## WHEN THE UNIQUENESS BRINGS US TOGETHER: HOW INITIAL CUES OF UNIQUENESS INFLUENCE CREATIVE COLLABORATIONS

A Dissertation Presented to The Academic Faculty

by

Qing Gong

In Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree Doctor of Philosophy in Management in the Scheller College of Business

> Georgia Institute of Technology August, 2022

# **COPYRIGHT © 2022 BY QING GONG**

## WHEN THE UNIQUENESS BRINGS US TOGETHER: HOW INITIAL CUES OF UNIQUENESS INFLUENCE CREATIVE COLLABORATIONS

Approved by:

Dr. Dong Liu, Chair Scheller College of Business *Georgia Institute of Technology* 

Dr. Christina E. Shalley Scheller College of Business *Georgia Institute of Technology* 

Dr. Terry C. Blum Scheller College of Business *Georgia Institute of Technology*  Dr. Katie L. Badura Scheller College of Business *Georgia Institute of Technology* 

Dr. Brian W. Swider Warrington College of Business University of Florida

Date Approved: June 29, 2022

### **DEDICATION**

To my mother, Hui Liu, father, Sheng Gong, and late grandmother, Jiqiong Hu.

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This is by no means the end but the beginning of a new journey. Therefore, I want to express my gratitude to these people who have loaded my backpack with their support, advice, wisdom, and love. I would never make it this far without them, and they also gave me the courage and perseverance to face future challenges and to continue growing and learning.

First, I would like to thank my committee. Dr. Dong Liu, my advisor and chair, whose thoughtful response to my cold email five years ago encouraging me to apply for the Ph.D. program has changed the trajectory of my life. I am grateful for Dong's guidance over the past five years to help me grow as a stronger and more independent researcher. I am also in debt of gratitude to Dr. Christina Shalley, my advisor and academic mom, for her support. She always works meticulously and tirelessly to help me develop my (not always good) ideas and writing skills. She gives me candid advice and warm encouragement when I most need them. I can never express enough gratitude to Dr. Brian Swider for seeing something in me and treating me not only as a mentee but more like a friend and colleague. When I was doubtful about my ability to do research, he came to my office to let me know that he believed in me. He instills his wisdom and experience to help me learn through our collaboration and puts a lot of effort into developing me in every aspect as a scholar—for that, I am eternally grateful. Many thanks to Dr. Katie Badura, for being a friend and an incredible role model. When the imposter syndrome has made me lack the courage to move forward, she can always help me out by giving me valuable advice. And my gratitude also goes to Dr. Terry Blum. Terry is the one who told

iv

me that even though I was far away from my family, I could have my academic family here in Atlanta.

I would also like to thank other faculty members who helped me grow during my tenure at Scheller. To Dr. David Sluss, Dr. Eugene Kim, Dr. Ajay Kohli, and Dr. Tiffany Johnson, your seminars are enlightening, intellectually stimulating, and definitely the part I enjoyed most in the Ph.D. program. And to Dr. Bradford Baker and Dr. Jessica Li, I appreciate your kindness and friendships and benefited greatly from the developmental workshops you organized.

I also must acknowledge some other scholars who led me to embark on this odyssey and helped me along the journey. I want to individually thank Dr. Yanjun Guan, who sparked my interest in research when I was an undergraduate student, encouraged me to apply for a Ph.D. program, and served as my career advisor till today. I am also fortunate to work with amazing scholars: Dr. Xiao-Ping Chen, Dr. Cynthia Lee, and Dr. Yang Chen—I appreciate their help and especially their patience and understanding during my job hunt.

Ph.D. life is challenging, and I really appreciate my friends who made this life much easier and more enjoyable. I learned a lot from my academic brothers/sisters, especially Amy, Laurens, Dana, and Felix, who showed up whenever I needed them even after graduating. I also had the best colleagues: Jiani, Min, Mary Eve, Yufei, Egan, Eunsoo, and Natasha, who helped me practice every formal presentation and shared with me those ups and downs. Even though the distance has separated us apart, video chats with my old friends have helped me make it through those difficult times. Many thanks to Shiqi, Han, Zhe, Zhenxing, and Bowen, for sharing my feelings and making me laugh. I

V

would give special thanks to Xueqi and Mengyu for giving me valuable suggestions at the early stage of my dissertation and job talk, and for always being great listeners when I need them.

Last but not least, my family is my pillar of support and deserves more recognition than I could include in this brief paragraph. I am incredibly fortunate to have the most supportive parents, Hui Liu and Sheng Gong. Growing up in a rural area as a girl, one would inevitably face many invisible barriers built by people's stereotypes and normative expectations of what a female should be like. I am forever grateful to and proud of my parents, who fought for me against those barriers that could limit my development and supported every decision I made in life. Even though it must be hard for them to accept that their only daughter would go to a totally different country alone to pursue a Ph.D., the only question they asked was how they could better support me to become the person I wanted to be. I want to express my deepest love and gratitude to them. I would also like to thank Yunan (Dr. Luo) for being my best friend, shelter in a storm, genius research assistant, and coauthor of the following chapters in our life. He was also my high-school role model and the first one who inspired me to pursue a career in academia (though we both realized how tough it is later!). I am so glad to have him by my side for the past nine years, to experience and grow together, and to share laughter and tears. His unwavering love and support have helped me become a better person and made me feel fearless. I am excited to embark on new adventures with him!

vi

## **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS LIST OF TABLES			
SUMMA	ARY	xi	
CHAPT	ER 1 INTRODUCTION	1	
CHAPT	ER 2 THEORETICAL BACKGROUND	9	
2.1	The Social Side of Creativity and Creative Collaborations	9	
2.2	Heuristic Evaluations of Creativity and Choosing Creative Collaborate	ors 15	
2.3	Interpersonal Perceptions of Uniqueness and Initial Cues of Uniqueness	ss 17	
CHAPTI	ER 3 HYPOTHESIS DEVELOPMENT	24	
3.1	Initial Cues of Uniqueness and Creative Collaboration Intention	24	
3.2	The Moderating Role of Perceivers' Need for Uniqueness	32	
3.3	The Moderating Role of Displayer's Competence-Based Status	35	
3.4	The Moderating Role of Cultural Tightness-Looseness	40	
CHAPTI	ER 4 METHODS AND RESULTS	45	
4.1	Study 1: Cues of Uniqueness and Creative Collaboration Intention	45	
4.1.1	1 Procedure and Sample	45	
4.1.2	2 Manipulation	46	
4.1.3	3 Measures	47	
4.1.4	4 Results	49	
4.1.5	5 Study 1 Discussion	50	
4.2	Study 2: Moderating Effect of Displayer's Competence-Based Status	51	
4.2.1	1 Participants and Procedure	51	

2.2	Manipulations	52
2.3	Measures	54
2.4	Results	55
2.5	Supplementary Analyses	61
2.6	Study 2 Discussion	63
Stu	dy 3: Moderating Effect of Organizational Cultural Tightness-Looseness	64
3.1	Sample and Procedure	64
3.2	Manipulations and Measures	65
3.3	Results	67
3.4	Study 3 Discussion	70
Stu	dy 4: Name Uniqueness and Creative Collaborations of Scientists	71
4.1	Data and Sample	71
4.2	Measures	72
4.3	Data Analysis Strategy	77
4.4	Results	77
4.5	Supplementary Analyses	82
4.6	Study 4 Discussion	88
TER	5 GENERAL DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSION	92
The	eoretical Implications	94
Pra	ctical Implications	97
Lin	nitations and Future Directions	99
Co	nclusion	102
NDIX	XA	103
NDIX	КВ	104
NDIX	K C	105
REFERENCES		
	2.2 2.3 2.4 2.5 2.6 Stu 3.1 3.2 3.3 3.4 Stu 4.1 4.2 4.3 4.4 4.5 4.4 4.5 4.6 TER The Pra Lin Cor NDIX NDIX NDIX	<ul> <li>Manipulations</li> <li>Measures</li> <li>Results</li> <li>Supplementary Analyses</li> <li>Study 2 Discussion</li> <li>Study 3: Moderating Effect of Organizational Cultural Tightness-Looseness</li> <li>Sample and Procedure</li> <li>Manipulations and Measures</li> <li>Results</li> <li>Study 3 Discussion</li> <li>Study 4: Name Uniqueness and Creative Collaborations of Scientists</li> <li>Data and Sample</li> <li>Measures</li> <li>Data Analysis Strategy</li> <li>Results</li> <li>Supplementary Analyses</li> <li>Study 4 Discussion</li> <li>THER 5 GENERAL DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSION</li> <li>Theoretical Implications</li> <li>Practical Implications</li> <li>Limitations and Future Directions</li> <li>Conclusion</li> <li>NDIX A</li> <li>NDIX B</li> <li>NDIX C</li> </ul>

## LIST OF TABLES

Table 1. Means, Standard Deviations, and Correlations of Variables (Study 4)	78
Table 2. Two-Level Mixed Effect Models Predicting Creative Collaboration Likelihoo (Study 4)	od 80
Table 3. Mixed Effect Models of Study 4 Supplementary Analyses	84
<b>Table 4.</b> Means, Standard Deviations, and Correlations Among Study Variables (StudSupplementary Analysis)	y 4 87
<b>Table 5.</b> Multiple Linear Regression Results of Data of Scientists in Arts and SocialSciences (Study 4, Supplementary Analysis)	91

## LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1. Theoretical Model	23
Figure 2. Choices of Collaborators in a Generic Task vs. Creative Task (Study 1)	50
<b>Figure 3.</b> Effect of Initial Cues of Uniqueness on Perceivers' Liking, Creative Potentia and Creative Collaboration Intention (Study 2)	ıl, 57
<b>Figure 4.</b> Moderating Effect of Perceiver Need for Uniqueness on the Relationship between Initial Cues of Uniqueness and Perceived Creative Potential (Study 2)	58
<b>Figure 5.</b> Effect of Initial Cues of Uniqueness and Displayer Status on Perceived Creative Potential of the Displayer (Study 2)	60
<b>Figure 6.</b> Effect of Initial Cues of Uniqueness and Displayer Status on Perceiver Create Collaboration Intention (Study 2)	ive 61
<b>Figure 7.</b> Effect of Initial Cues of Uniqueness and Displayer Status on Perceiver Liking for the Displayer (Study 2, Supplementary Analysis)	g 63
<b>Figure 8</b> . Effect of Initial Cues of Uniqueness on Perceivers' Liking, Perceived Creative Potential, and Creative Collaboration Intention	ve 68
<b>Figure 9.</b> Moderating Effect of Perceiver Need for Uniqueness on the Relationship between Initial Cues of Uniqueness and Perceived Creative Potential (Study 2)	69
Figure 10. Effect of Name Uniqueness and Cultural Tightness on Creative Collaboration Likelihood	on 81

#### SUMMARY

While diverse perspectives benefit collaborations in generating creative outcomes, people generally tend to favor and connect based on similarities. To unpack this seeming dilemma, this research examines whether, how, and when initial cues demonstrating individuals' uniqueness, meaning rare and distinct features in a social environment, influence perceivers' intention to collaborate with them on creative projects. Drawing from the associative-propositional evaluation (APE) theory and the signaling perspective, I propose that people are likely to gravitate towards collaborators who display cues of uniqueness in initial interactions. When seeking collaborators for creative endeavors based on limited information in early interactions, initial cues of uniqueness may trigger positive associations and thus liking for the displayer and signal creative potential, leading to perceivers' greater creative collaboration intention. Furthermore, the perceiver's need for uniqueness, the displayer's competence-based status, and cultural tightness in the social environment can influence the effectiveness of cues of uniqueness. This research leverages experimental methodology to test the psychological mechanisms and examines the phenomenon using large-scale archival data of scientists' publication and collaboration records. The experimental studies generally support the hypotheses except for the moderating effect of cultural tightness. Analyses based on the archival data yield mixed findings regarding the relationship between an initial cue of uniqueness (i.e., name uniqueness) and scientists' likelihood of building creative collaborations. Theoretical implications on the interpersonal outcomes of uniqueness and creative collaborations and practical implications for leveraging cues of uniqueness are discussed.

xi

### **CHAPTER 1 INTRODUCTION**

Despite the prevalent admiration towards lone geniuses with extraordinary creativity like Vincent van Gogh, organizational studies have increasingly recognized that the process of generating novel and useful ideas (Amabile, 1983; Shalley et al., 2004) as a social process that can be significantly influenced by interpersonal interactions and collaborations (Li et al., 2018; Perry-Smith & Shalley, 2003; Rouse, 2020). Creative collaborations, which refers to the joint effort by two or more individuals in generating, elaborating, and evaluating ideas or solutions with the goal of creating novel and useful outcomes (Chua et al., 2012; Rouse, 2020), has many advantages. For example, collaborations expose individuals to different perspectives, information, and knowledge, promoting divergent thinking and identifying opportunities that would otherwise be overlooked by an individual (Chua & Jin, 2020; Hoever et al., 2012). Further, as collaborators bring different experience and expertise, collaborations can also have an edge in integrating ideas for a greater breakthrough, uncovering potential issues that may lead to poor outcomes, and identifying ideas with the most creative potential (Singh & Fleming, 2010).

Although research has revealed the significance of collaborations in creative processes, factors that influence how creative collaborations emerge remain largely underexplored (Leahey, 2016; Levine & Moreland, 2004). Extant studies have mainly examined the social processes of creativity in an established social configuration such as teams (Gong et al., 2013; Hoever et al., 2018) and social networks (e.g., Li et al., 2018; Perry-Smith, 2006) and focused on how these configurations enable the exchange of ideas and knowledge for creativity. However, it is also essential to investigate the

development of discretionary creative collaborations among individuals as it determines the actual dynamics of the collaborative development of creative outcomes within and even beyond an established social structure (R. Chua & Jin, 2020; Li et al., 2018; M.-H. Tsai et al., 2020). Extending the literature on the social side of creativity, this research focuses on the onset of discretionary creative collaborations and investigates whether initial informational cues of uniqueness—cues that demonstrate the extent to which one is different from other people in a social context (Lynn & Snyder, 2002; Netemeyer et al., 2004; Snyder & Fromkin, 1980)—may influence individuals' choice of creative collaborators.

The willingness to engage in further social interactions and build social connections is typically influenced by the initial interactions (Swider et al., 2022). In initial interactions, certain perceivable information (i.e., cues) is exchanged and used to make inferences regarding the other party and navigate people's future interactions and relationships (Nestler et al., 2012; Swider et al., 2022). When seeking creative collaborations, individuals are inevitably influenced by informational cues in initial social interactions, from which they make inferences about others and assess with whom they tend to collaborate on creative endeavors (Baten et al., 2021; Elsbach & Kramer, 2003). However, an intriguing tension emerges from the literature regarding what kinds of cues may facilitate the formation of creative collaborations. On the one hand, research on the social side of creativity highlights that the core value of creative collaborations is exposing individuals to and incorporating a wide range of perspectives and knowledge across domains, which underscores the importance of differences among collaborators (Chua & Jin, 2020; Skilton & Dooley, 2010). For example, diverse cultural or

educational backgrounds (Chua et al., 2012; Leung & Wang, 2015; Shin & Zhou, 2007), different specialized knowledge or perspectives (Han et al., 2014; Hoever et al., 2012), and heterogeneous outside social connections (Perry-Smith & Shalley, 2014) can significantly facilitate the effectiveness of creative collaborations in teams. Further, conflicts resulting from different opinions or minority dissent arising from unique perspectives can drive the group to reconsider decisions, think outside the box, and engage in collaborative problem solving, which gives rise to creativity (De Dreu, 2006; De Dreu & West, 2001; Jetten & Hornsey, 2014). In this way, cues of uniqueness may be seen as desirable, as such cues illustrate one's distinctiveness from others, signaling potentially unique resources or perspectives that are valuable for creative collaborations (Brennecke, 2020; Mueller & Kamdar, 2011).

On the other hand, research has also demonstrated that when developing social relationships, individuals had the tendency to be attracted to, favor, and build connections with someone who seemed familiar, held similar opinions, or demonstrated similar characteristics as themselves (Condon & Crano, 1988; McPherson et al., 2001; Montoya et al., 2008; Reis et al., 2011). Specifically, individuals typically evaluate others who are similar to themselves regarding attitudes or demographics as more likable (C. B. Goldberg, 2005; Roth et al., 2020). They also tend to interpret someone who mimics their behaviors or discloses similar attitudes as having greater affiliation motivation (Ashton-James & Chartrand, 2009; Condon & Crano, 1988). Likewise, the homophily principle in social network research suggests that individuals prefer connecting and interacting with peers similar to themselves (Baten et al., 2021; McPherson et al., 2001; Zhou et al., 2009). Preferences based on similarity and familiarity imply disapproval of mavericks.

Under situations where collective norms have been established, being different from anyone else is likely to risk someone being rejected, alienated, or even punished (Griskevicius et al., 2006; Jetten & Hornsey, 2014). Therefore, while differences and uniqueness are needed and beneficial for creative collaboration, research has suggested that people generally prefer interacting with similar others (AlShebli et al., 2018). Thus, an intriguing question emerges: Will individuals' cues signaling uniqueness increase or decrease other people's likelihood of engaging in creative collaborations with them?

In this dissertation, I set out to explore *whether*, *how*, and *when* initial cues of uniqueness influence perceivers' likelihood to build creative collaborations with them. As an initial attempt to explore the relationship between cues of uniqueness and the formation of creative collaborations, this dissertation examines cues that are prevalently exchanged during initial interactions (e.g., names, appearance style, and knowledge domain). I construct the theoretical model based on both the associative-propositional evaluation (APE) model (Gawronski et al., 2005; Kruglanski & Gigerenzer, 2011) and signaling theory (Connelly et al., 2011; Spence, 1973; Spence, 2002). Specifically, initial cues of uniqueness can give rise to a favorable affective gut reaction and lead to the inferences of the individual as having great creative potential, leading to a stronger inclination to collaborate with them on a creative project. I also theorize that such a relationship is contingent on the characteristics of the perceiver, displayer, and social context. Therefore, the perceiver's need for uniqueness, the displayer's status, and cultural tightness-looseness in the social context are examined as moderators.

This research seeks to make the following theoretical contributions. First, it draws attention to the onset of creative collaborations and contributes to the literature on the

social aspect of creativity (Perry-Smith & Shalley, 2003; Rouse, 2020). The current literature has revealed the impact of collaborations on an individual's or a collective's creativity. Through collaborations, more information, knowledge, perspectives, and approaches can be integrated to generate creative outcomes that go beyond the boundary of an individual's mind (Singh & Fleming, 2010; Wuchty et al., 2007). Nevertheless, who develops creative collaborations with whom directly influences what kinds of knowledge and thoughts are likely to be considered and integrated into new ideas. Essentially, if people only collaborate with others based on commonalities, the information and knowledge in the collaborations are likely redundant, and similar thoughts may be reinforced, thwarting the potential for breaking new ground (Perry-Smith, 2006; Rouse, 2020). However, if collaborations are built among individuals who can bring unique and diverse perspectives to the table, new opportunities and creative sparks are more likely to emerge (Burt, 2004; Chua & Jin, 2020; Perry-Smith & Shalley, 2014). Rather than assuming the natural occurrence of collaborations within a collective (e.g., a team), this research focuses on factors that may influence the emergence of discretionary creative collaborations. Specifically, it examines how an individual's initial cues of uniqueness may affect other people's intention to collaborate, which explores an antecedent that affects how creative collaborations arise. Furthermore, by investigating how cues of uniqueness may influence one's chance to build creative collaborations, this research can also yield implications for the interpersonal outcomes of uniqueness, unveiling whether individuals with unique attributes are likely to be engaged in collaborative creative processes and have the chance to contribute their unique outlooks.

Second, this research investigates the specific type of workplace relationship creative collaboration—and aims to reveal how cues of uniqueness may be associated with creative potential in this context. It can thus contribute to the workplace relationship literature by revealing whether the motivation or goal of developing creative outcomes shapes how individuals process informational cues in social interactions. Indeed, workplace professional relationships are usually task-oriented and developed based on the need for resources to achieve certain goals, and similarity-attraction may not always be potent (Brennecke, 2020; Kuwabara et al., 2022; Umphress et al., 2003). For example, to solve work-related problems, employees may intentionally approach colleagues they do not enjoy working with for unique resources and dissenting opinions (Brennecke, 2020). In the same vein, when seeking creative collaborations, the need for diverse and nonredundant viewpoints and the beliefs regarding creativity may influence individuals' reactions toward and inferences of cues of uniqueness and their intention to build creative collaborations. It thus illuminates a new avenue to explore whether certain unique attributes that are typically undesirable in general social interactions may be perceived differently in creative collaborations. Further, this research examines the moderating effects of the perceiver's need for uniqueness and the displayer's competence-based status, unveiling nuances in whether uniqueness will be perceived differently depending on perceivers' and displayers' characteristics.

Third, by investigating how the cultural tightness-looseness shapes individuals' perceptions of those who demonstrate cues of uniqueness and intentions to collaborate with them, this research proposes a novel perspective to understand how social contexts influence creativity. The extant research examining the contextual influence on creativity

mainly focuses on how contextual factors such as leadership (Boies et al., 2015), supportive environment for creativity (Eisenbeiss et al., 2008; Gong et al., 2013), or affective climate (Parke et al., 2022; W.-C. Tsai et al., 2012) influence the generation of novel and useful ideas by individuals or teams. However, this research focuses on how a social context may facilitate or discourage the formation of discretionary creative collaborations based on uniqueness. It unveils that cultural tightness-looseness, which describes the culture of tolerance for deviations from norms, may influence creativity by shaping whether people are willing to appreciate the uniqueness of others and develop creative collaborations from disparities.

Across four studies, I leverage different methodological approaches to investigate the relationship between initial cues of uniqueness and creative collaboration intention. First, I take a micro, perceiver-focused approach and probe the psychological processes through which initial cues of uniqueness (specifically, unique name, appearance style, and knowledge domain) influence perceivers' intention to collaborate with an individual displaying cues of uniqueness for creativity. Specifically, I first use a within-subject design (Study 1) to test the influence of cues of uniqueness on perceivers' collaboration intention in a creative task versus a non-creative task to establish the relationship between initial cues of uniqueness and *creative* collaboration intention. Then I further examine the psychological mechanisms through which cues of uniqueness influence perceivers' creative collaboration, as well as contextual factors that influence these processes in vignette-based experiments (Study 2 and Study 3).

Second, this dissertation explores how unique names, the first piece of information exchanged in almost all professional social interactions, may influence

creative collaborations in the real world. Using a large-scale archival dataset of the world's most cited scientists (Study 4) in the U.S., I examine the relationship between scientists' name uniqueness and their likelihood to build creative collaborations in scientific research. I also investigate how a scientist's status in the field and societal cultural tightness during their careers may shape the relationship.

### **CHAPTER 2 THEORETICAL BACKGROUND**

#### 2.1 The Social Side of Creativity and Creative Collaborations

Creativity as a social process has garnered increasing scholarly interest as collaborations gain prominence in generating novel and useful ideas and products across many fields (Perry-Smith & Shalley, 2003; Rouse, 2020; Wuchty et al., 2007). As the old saying goes: "Two heads are better than one." Research revealed that collaborations are beneficial in trimming poor ideas and expanding the scope of consideration to uncover and combine opportunities (Perry-Smith & Mannucci, 2017; Singh & Fleming, 2010). Collaborative efforts are thus found to outperform individual endeavors in creating breakthrough inventions (Chan et al., 2021; Singh & Fleming, 2010; Wuchty et al., 2007).

While the format and extent of collaborations can vary (Abra, 1994), based on prior conceptualizations of creative collaborations, I define creative collaborations as *the joint effort by two or more individuals in generating, elaborating, and evaluating ideas or solutions with the goal of creating novel and useful outcomes* (Chua & Jin, 2020; Elsbach & Flynn, 2013; Rouse, 2020). It includes formal collaborations such as working on an assigned creative project as well as more informal collaborations such as sharing data and ideas, or helping colleagues solve a novel problem, which turns out to be a collaborative endeavor that results in creative outcomes (Leahey, 2016). Creative collaborations involve a variety of behaviors such as soliciting ideas, offering ideas, and helping with creative problem solving (Elsbach & Flynn, 2013; J. S. Mueller & Kamdar, 2011). It also defines the interpersonal relationship in which individuals work collaboratively to generate creative ideas, solutions, or products (Rouse, 2020). It should be noted that collaborators do not have to engage extensively in every stage of the creative process, but they need to be involved in the creative process and make substantial contributions to the creative outcome. In other words, a collaborative relationship for creativity is meaningful when the outcome would not otherwise be developed individually (Chua & Jin, 2020). For example, a collaborator may not engage in initial idea generation but use a novel technique to solve problems in a research project, but a friendly reviewer of the project should not be considered as a collaborator. In this study, I focus on creative collaborations as an interpersonal relationship and examine the influence of initial cues of uniqueness on perceivers' intention to build collaborative relationships for creativity with the focal individual. My research is inspired by three distinct yet cross-illuminating streams of research examining the social side of creativity and the implications of collaborations in creative processes.

The first stream of research views social relationships as important sources of information, knowledge, and perspectives that influence individuals' or groups' creativity (Hirst et al., 2015; Perry-Smith & Shalley, 2003, 2014; Uzzi & Spiro, 2005). This perspective is most evident in creativity studies that take a social network approach. The seminal theoretical work of Perry-Smith and Shalley (2003) elucidated that characteristics of social connections and an individual's position in a social network can impact individual creativity, and individual creativity further influences one's position in the social network. Since then, the burgeoning studies in this regard have examined the impacts of various network characteristics on creativity (for a review, see Baer et al., 2015). While research generally shows that well-connected individuals can likely benefit from the amount of information they gain from their network and thus have an advantage

in identifying opportunities and obtaining resources needed to be creative (Baer et al., 2015), having too many connections may actually stifle creativity (Perry-Smith & Shalley, 2003). Since individuals only have limited time and cognitive resources, dealing with too much information from the network and maintaining the position may result in information overload and stress that can impair creativity or take away the time that could be used to develop new ideas (Perry-Smith, 2006; Perry-Smith & Shalley, 2003). Research thus suggests that there is an optimal number of ties or level of centrality to facilitate creativity (Baer, 2010; Perry-Smith & Shalley, 2003; Zhou et al., 2009).

Beyond the amount of information transmitted by a large number of ties, research also underscores that what kind of information is likely accessed through the ties is critical for creativity. Essentially, if network ties expose individuals to diverse and nonredundant information or perspectives, they can facilitate divergent thinking and provide a wide range of information and knowledge for individuals to recombine and form novel solutions (Hirst et al., 2015; Perry-Smith & Shalley, 2003; Zhou et al., 2009). Accordingly, studies found that weak ties (e.g., Perry-Smith, 2006; Zhou et al., 2009), brokerage (e.g., Burt, 2004; Li et al., 2018), and network diversity (e.g., Baer, 2010; Chua, 2018) enhanced the emergence of creative ideas. Further, individuals with access to heterogeneous perspectives through outside networks develop cognitive schemas that involve wide-ranging and flexible considerations, enhancing their teams' creativity (Perry-Smith & Shalley, 2014).

Differentiating from the social network perspective that regards social relationships as sources of creativity-enabling inputs, the second stream of research focuses on social interactions in team processes that generate collective creative

outcomes. Building on the input-process-output (IPO) model of team performance, studies suggested that team composition or characteristics such as team tenure (Zeng et al., 2021), interdependence (Van der Vegt & Janssen, 2003), and diversity (e.g., Wang et al., 2019) could influence a team's creative outcomes as they indicated the inputs for team creativity (Hülsheger et al., 2009). However, research further revealed that social interactions within teams, manifested in team collaboration processes, played a significant role in unlocking the potential of resources team members brought to the table and fostering team creativity (Harvey, 2014; Hülsheger et al., 2009). For example, while diversity in perspectives or information can potentially enhance team creativity, studies have demonstrated that it is essential for team members to take others' perspectives, and discuss to integrate different information and views through information elaboration to optimize the wide-ranging inputs to facilitate creativity (Hoever et al., 2012, 2018; van Knippenberg et al., 2004). Research also revealed that appropriate levels of dissonances in team interactions, such as task conflict and minority dissent, are beneficial for team creativity (De Dreu, 2006; De Dreu & West, 2001; Miron-spektor et al., 2011; Nemeth & Goncalo, 2011).

These streams of research on the social side of creativity highlight that collaborating with others is crucial in creative processes as it: a) enables access to a wide range of resources (e.g., information, knowledge) that sparks creativity; b) integrates different ideas to generate novel and useful outcomes; and c) provides evaluations and feedback for selecting and developing ideas. Together, they provide significant insights and a theoretical foundation that gives rise to this research.

First, there is a striking need to investigate the onset of creative collaborations and factors that influence people's choice of collaborators, which dictates the configurations of groups or social networks and the dynamics of collaborative interactions within them. While previous studies generated plentiful insights regarding the value of collaborative interactions for creativity in established social structures such as networks and teams, individuals are agentic actors in these structures and have choices and various levels of willingness regarding whom to approach for creative inspiration. Social network research suggested that individuals only had limited resources to build and maintain ties (Podolny & Baron, 1997; Stiller & Dunbar, 2007). Beyond an optimal level, an excessive number of ties can pull individuals into too many irreconcilable directions, consuming time and cognitive resources that were supposed to be invested in creating, resulting in stress and confusion, and ultimately thwarting creativity (Perry-Smith & Shalley, 2003; Zhou et al., 2009). Hence, individuals are selective in forming creative collaborative links (Baten et al., 2021). It is thus valuable to understand factors that may drive the selection of creative collaborators, which directly influences what kinds of information or perspectives are likely to be integrated for creativity.

Furthermore, as creativity emphasizes taking an approach that is different from the established procedures, creative processes are less standardized than mundane work processes and can arise from serendipities (Burt, 2004; Gilson et al., 2005). When working in organizational structures, individuals can have some discretions in choosing creative collaborators, and creative collaborations are more spontaneous than those specified work interactions such as workflow collaborations (Gaggioli et al., 2020; Li et al., 2018; Mueller & Kamdar, 2011). Likewise, in lieu of viewing groups as a "black

box" of producing creative outcomes, recent studies underline the need to investigate the discretionary creative collaborations between individuals to unpack how creativity emerges from social interactions (e.g., Chua & Jin, 2020; Gaggioli et al., 2020; Li et al., 2020; Rouse, 2020). Therefore, in this research, I concentrate on micro-level creative collaborations and examine factors that may influence an individual's intention to develop creative collaborations with others.

Second, the social side of creativity literature generally suggests that effective creative collaborations are characterized by exposure to different ideas and optimizing, reconciling, and integrating diverse perspectives (Hoever et al., 2012; Rouse, 2020; Skilton & Dooley, 2010). I further theorize that the need for different perspectives will thus direct individuals' creative collaboration seeking. Specifically, studies elucidated that weak ties, characterized by low levels of intimacy, emotional intensity, time of interactions, and reciprocity, are more likely to benefit creativity than strong ties (Granovetter, 1973; Perry-Smith, 2006; Zhou et al., 2009). This is because weak ties likely connect different social circles and can provide access to diverse and nonredundant information and perspectives that are different from the focal individual's own (Perry-Smith & Shalley, 2003; Zhou et al., 2009). It indicated that in creative collaborations, the significance of different perspectives might prevail the sense of affiliation and emotional intimacy, and people may not necessarily be dominated by similarity-attraction (Abra, 1994).

Similarly, creativity research also suggested the "value in diversity", especially job-relevant diversity or deep-level differences reflected in divergent cognitive approaches in team-based creative collaborations (Hülsheger et al., 2009; Shalley &

Gilson, 2004, p. 43). For example, studies found that heterogeneity in educational specialization (Shin & Zhou, 2007), cognitive styles (Aggarwal & Woolley, 2019; Miron-spektor et al., 2011), perspectives (Hoever et al., 2012), and deep-level cultural differences (Wang et al., 2019) facilitated creativity under proper contexts. Furthermore, the different and unique perspectives result in minority dissent, disagreements, or task conflicts, which can stimulate divergent thinking, constructive discussions, and synthesis of different views, engendering opportunities for novel breakthroughs (De Dreu & West, 2001; Harvey, 2014; Skilton & Dooley, 2010). Therefore, when seeking creative collaborators, instead of being attracted by similarity as characterized in general interpersonal interactions (Condon & Crano, 1988; McPherson et al., 2001), individuals may pay attention to and approach someone different or unique for divergent perspectives enabling creativity (Abra, 1994). "Being different" may be associated with attributes that people favor for a creative collaborator (Elsbach & Kramer, 2003; Proudfoot & Fath, 2021).

#### 2.2 Heuristic Evaluations of Creativity and Choosing Creative Collaborators

When seeking collaborators to generate novel and useful ideas, it is essential for individuals to look for someone who can contribute creative perspectives. However, as creativity features original ideas that are different from norms, established schemas may not be available to guide such judgments, and evaluations of creativity essentially involve subjectivity and may take a heuristic form (Montag et al., 2012; Zhou et al., 2019). Studies corroborated the subjective component of creativity perceptions by revealing that creativity recognition is related to factors such as perceivers' construal level (Mueller et al., 2014), regulatory focus states (Zhou et al., 2017), or the economic mindset induced

by a decision-maker role (Mueller et al., 2018). Research suggests that subjective judgments about an individual's creativity are usually based on the alignment between an individual's behaviors and characteristics and the perceiver's implicit beliefs and prototypes about creativity (Katz & Thompson, 1993; Sternberg, 1985), even when the behaviors or characteristics may not necessarily reflect one's actual creative abilities. For example, people tend to ascribe greater creativity to men (Luksyte et al., 2018; Proudfoot et al., 2015) and to entrepreneurs who do not have a nonnative English accent (L. Huang et al., 2013), who are narcissistic (Goncalo et al., 2010), or seem passionate (Davis et al., 2017).

Uniqueness or distinctiveness from the norm is an essential aspect of generally conceived prototypes and implicit theories about creativity (Kasof, 1995; Ramos & Puccio, 2014). Indeed, uniqueness is regarded as a "key criterion for creativity" (Vincent & Kouchaki, 2016, p. 1452). Uniqueness is believed to conceptually overlap with creativity such that creative employees also tend to believe their contributions as more unique (Vincent & Kouchaki, 2016), and facilitating employees' feelings of uniqueness is considered beneficial to promoting their creativity (Randel & Jaussi, 2017). Prototypes of creative individuals also usually involve being unusual or unique (Ramos & Puccio, 2014; Runco & Bahleda, 1986; Sternberg, 1985). For example, in Hollywood pitch meetings, experts consider screenwriters' unconventional behaviors or quirky attributes as cues of the most creative prototype (Elsbach & Kramer, 2003). Outside of a professional creativity evaluation situation, laypeople tend to perceive a person who demonstrate independence and distinctiveness from others on a daily basis as not being influenced by others' thoughts and having the creative potential (Proudfoot & Fath, 2021;

Proudfoot et al., 2015). Such lay beliefs or prototypes about uniqueness, event though not necessarily reflecting individual creativity accurately, may to some extent be valid. Research shows that individuals' motives to be seen as unique or their feelings of being different from others associate positively with their creative performance (Dollinger, 2003; Kim et al., 2013; Randel & Jaussi, 2017; Zitek & Vincent, 2015). Therefore, cues that demonstrate one's uniqueness may influence judgments of one's creative potential and play a role in choosing creative collaborators.

### 2.3 Interpersonal Perceptions of Uniqueness and Initial Cues of Uniqueness

Uniqueness refers to uncommon attributes that distinguish one from other people in a social environment (Lynn & Snyder, 2002). Research establishes that individuals have the general need for uniqueness, or the need to be distinct from others (Fromkin & Snyder, 1980; Lynn & Snyder, 2002). People tend to fulfill the need for uniqueness and express their sense of distinctiveness through displaying certain cues in social interactions, such as displaying the possession of unusual products (e.g., clothes, accessories) or different domains of knowledge (Holt, 1995; Ruvio, 2008; Tian et al., 2001). Just as cues (e.g., brand name, packaging) that communicate a product's uniqueness that is considered essential brand equity (Aaker, 1996; Keller, 1993; Netemeyer et al., 2004), individuals' cues of uniqueness (e.g., name, appearance style) may also be naturally picked up and have implications for social interactions.

The interpersonal ramifications of cues of uniqueness were rarely discussed in the literature. A classic view in social psychology focuses on the pervasive and powerful pressure for unanimity and suggests that unique individuals risk ridicule and sanctions (Asch, 1951; Cialdini & Goldstein, 2004). So driven by the desire for affiliation and

social approval, people tend to make themselves not stand out, even by displaying inauthentic cues of conformity (Baumeister, 1982; Cialdini & Goldstein, 2004; Hewlin, 2003, 2009). However, a growing stream of literature suggests that distinctiveness from others may not necessarily lead to negative aftermath but can be seen as normal and respectable, depending on the specific context (for a review, see Hutchison et al., 2011; Jetten & Hornsey, 2014), and showing cues of uniqueness may bring benefits in social interactions. For example, observers tend to confer greater competence and status to individuals dressed in a unique way that violates dressing norms in professional or unprofessional settings (i.e., the red sneakers effect; Bellezza et al., 2013). However, more scholarly investigations on the interpersonal outcomes of cues of uniqueness in various situations are warranted.

In this study, I investigate that during early interactions in which information about the interacting party is limited, how initial cues of uniqueness may influence perceivers' willingness to collaborate with an individual on creative endeavors. Initial cues of uniqueness refer to the perceivable information of an individual's uncommon and distinctive attributes observed during initial interactions that can be used for inferences (Fiske, 1993; Swider et al., 2022). As the possible cues that demonstrate one's uniqueness can be endless, I specifically focus on cues that are, first, constructed by individuals or their social environment as such artificial cues are informative about one's attitudes and motives rather than biological cues such as unusual body features (Desmichel et al., 2020; Holtz, 2013). Second, I focus on relative neutral cues rather than uniqueness due to overwhelmingly desirable or undesirable attributes such as being unusually attractive or unattractive. In particular, as an initial exploration, this research examines cues of uniqueness regarding one's name, appearance style, and knowledge domain as these cues are widely exchanged in initial professional interactions and are considered salient and representative cues in making inferences about individuals (Jonah Berger & Heath, 2007; Burroughs & Drews, 1991; Twenge & Manis, 1998).

Information regarding one's knowledge domains, such as one's diplomas and credentials, are competence-related cues that are used by perceivers to make inferences in early social interactions (Holtz, 2013). Specialized knowledge is also symbolic of one's identity (Holt, 1995). People thus tend to present cues of special knowledge domains to distinguish themselves from others and establish their uniqueness (Berger & Heath, 2007; Tian et al., 2001). Furthermore, generating novel and useful ideas requires extensive knowledge and skills (Amabile, 1988; Amabile & Pratt, 2016; Perry-Smith & Shalley, 2003). So cues regarding one's unusual knowledge domains can demonstrate one's uniqueness and are also essential information that is likely to be picked up when seeking collaborators for creativity.

An individual's name and appearance style, while not relevant to one's competence, are cues first picked up in nearly all professional social interactions. They can provide a direct and salient label or visual image demonstrating one's uniqueness (Richardson et al., 1994). Appearance cues, here I mainly focus on individuals' choice of appearance styles, such as clothing, hairstyles, and accessories, are an important way to express individuals' sense of distinctiveness and provide a direct visual image of an individual's uniqueness (Berger & Heath, 2007; Tian et al., 2001). Appearance styles are considered indicators of individuals' underlying attributes and can create stimuli activating associations between an individual and certain characteristics (Rafaeli & Pratt,

1993; Reh et al., 2017). For example, as the color red can be associated with anger, men wearing red shirts are perceived as more aggressive and dominant (Wiedemann et al., 2015). Perceivers also tend to see those wearing glasses and beards with intelligence and goodness and associate these individuals with occupations such as professors and physicians (Hellström & Tekle, 1994). But wearing glasses is also associated with introversion and thus less charisma in leaders (Tskhay et al., 2017). Therefore, appearance styles can serve as cues of uniqueness in initial interactions and likely trigger perceivers' inferences.

Even though names may not necessarily reflect one's own volition, they are labels of individuals and incorporate identity meanings (Christopher, 1998; Kalist & Lee, 2009; Twenge & Manis, 1998; Watzlawik et al., 2016). When individuals are addressed by their names, other people are likely to attach the attributes elicited by the name to define the name bearer and treat them accordingly (Kalist & Lee, 2009; Twenge & Manis, 1998; Watzlawik et al., 2016). Research shows that the perceptions and inferences based on an individual's name can influence other's evaluation of the individual ranging from teachers' evaluation of students' performance (Bonefeld & Dickhäuser, 2018) to recruiters' appraisal of a candidate's employability (Bertrand & Mullainathan, 2004; Cotton et al., 2008). These evaluations and attitudes elicited by names profoundly impact people's social interactions. For example, studies suggested that through social interactions, social attitudes evoked by one's name can in turn shape the individual's selfconcept and be related to the individual's self-esteem (Gebauer et al., 2012), the likelihood of juvenile delinquency (Kalist & Lee, 2009), choice of occupations (Bao et

al., n.d.; Silberzahn & Uhlmann, 2013), and even physical appearance (Zwebner et al., 2017).

Seeing the implications of names for social interactions, I also investigate name uniqueness as an initial cue of uniqueness. Name uniqueness describes the low frequency of a name being used in a population (Y. Kang et al., 2021; Kulig, 2013). It reflects the extent to which one's name is different from most people and thus unfamiliar to them. Studies suggested that unique names are usually seen as bizarre, unpopular, undesirable, and can lead to others' unfavorable reactions (Christopher, 1998; Gebauer et al., 2012; Twenge & Manis, 1998). However, research also suggested that unique names do not necessarily have undesirable ramifications. For example, as others may perceive people with a unique name as unusual, unique name bearers are likely to establish an identity of being different from peers (Kang et al., 2021). As a result, individuals with a unique name were found to likely choose a non-conforming career and pursue unconventional strategies when they are CEOs of companies (Bao et al., n.d.; Y. Kang et al., 2021; Zweigenhaft, 1983). Moreover, unique names may not always be perceived unfavorably (Zweigenhaft, 1983). For example, Kulig (2013) found that people tend to appraise their own names as more unique than others' estimates, and how much individuals liked their own names was positively related to the actual uniqueness of their names in the population. The preference for unique names is even more evident when creativity is involved. For example, Lebuda and Karwowski (2013) found that an artist's unique name led others to assess greater creativity in the artist's work. Likewise, Bao and colleagues (2020) showed that people tended to associate unique name bearers with unique jobs that they believed required more creativity. They also investigated data of artists who had

ever changed their names and found that the artists' names were changed to be more uncommon (Bao et al., 2020).

In summary, prior research suggests that observable cues can be displayed to demonstrate individuals' uniqueness in interpersonal interactions. Studies also reveal that uniqueness can be desirable in the pursuit of creativity. It is thus possible that when choosing collaborators for creativity, instead of seeking similarities, individuals might gravitate toward those who demonstrate cues of uniqueness. Drawing from both the associative-propositional evaluation (APE) model (Gawronski & Bodenhausen, 2007) and signaling theory (Spence, 1973, 2002), in the next section, I theorize how and when initial cues of uniqueness can influence one's creative collaboration intention via eliciting positive affective reactions and inferences of creative potential. The overall theoretical model is illustrated in Figure 1.



Figure 1. Theoretical Model

### **CHAPTER 3 HYPOTHESIS DEVELOPMENT**

#### **3.1** Initial Cues of Uniqueness and Creative Collaboration Intention

Like many other social interactions in the workplace, creative collaboration has specific purposes (i.e., collaboratively generating novel and feasible ideas) that influence how informational cues exchanged in initial interactions are interpreted, shaping the development and dynamics of further interactions (Swider et al., 2022). When considering whom to approach for creative inspiration and collaborations, people tend to draw from available informational cues to infer those not readily observable characteristics that are desirable for the potential creative collaborations (Baten et al., 2021; Elsbach & Kramer, 2003). In making judgments about their interacting partner, people engage in two interacting systems—one is deliberate and systematic, and the other is heuristic and automatic—to process information and decide their attitudes and behaviors in social interactions (Chaiken & Ledgerwood, 2012; Strack & Deutsch, 2004). In the same vein, initial cues of uniqueness are likely to be processed through both heuristic and systematic processes when choosing collaborators for creative endeavors.

According to the dual-process social cognition perspective, while the deliberated and heuristic systems of processing operate in parallel, the heuristic system is more primary as it requires little cognitive resources and can occur even when individuals are not fully aware of the process or not motivated to take the information into consideration (Chaiken & Ledgerwood, 2012; Cunningham et al., 2003; Strack & Deustch, 2004). Drawing from the associative-propositional evaluation (APE) model (Gawronski & Bodenhausen, 2007, 2011), I theorize that cues of uniqueness can first give rise to perceivers' positive affective gut reactions (i.e., liking) towards the target individual,

leading to greater intention to collaborate with the individual for creative outcomes. Indeed, research shows that people are predisposed to form affective judgments (e.g., like or dislike) early and quickly during social interactions with minimal inferential effort (Barrick et al., 2010; Ferguson & Bargh, 2004; Zajonc, 1980). The APE model demonstrates that such affective judgments of a target individual are based on associative processes. In associative evaluation processes, a stimulus (e.g., a cue of uniqueness) activates mental associations with concepts that share similarities in people's memory and triggers favorable or unfavorable affective attitudes (Gawronski & Bodenhausen, 2007). If the activated associations are of positive valence, perceivers will form positive affective reactions towards the target. Such associative thinking is independent of whether the target actually possesses the associated attributes, which means individuals make such associations and form affective responses without necessarily considering them valid. In other words, informational cues do not have to be considered a valid diagnostic factor to trigger attitudes as long as they share feature similarities with available memory representations (Gawronski & Bodenhausen, 2011).

Specifically, individuals' initial cues of uniqueness, such as a unique name or appearance style, can influence perceivers' judgments regardless of whether the perceiver is intended to consider the cues (Gawronski & Bodenhausen, 2011). While initial cues of uniqueness may not specifically be considered or interpreted, they can give rise to a general impression that the target individual has something distinctive from other people, which gives rise to a general affective response towards the individual. As creative collaborations underscore the importance of divergent perspectives and generating outcomes that are different from the norm, the desirable attributes of a potential creative
collaborator share similarities with a unique individual as both demonstrate differences from others and norms. Furthermore, a unique individual is also likely to align with general implicit theories of creative prototypes, such that creative individuals are rare and unconventional (Elsbach & Kramer, 2003; Kasof, 1995; Khazan, 2020). In this way, initial cues of uniqueness serve as stimuli that can activate associations with concepts such as "novel," "original," and "creative," as uniqueness shares similarities with these attributes. These concepts are desirable, and the associations are of positive valence, so perceivers tend to form a favorable affective reaction (i.e., liking) towards the individual who displays cues of uniqueness. Since liking underlies judgments and decisions regarding collaborations, affiliations, and development of future interactions and relationships in interpersonal processes (e.g., Allen & Rush, 1998; Roth et al., 2022; Wayne & Ferris, 1990; Williams, 2007), perceivers are inclined to individuals displaying cues of uniqueness for creative collaborations, even though they may not have specific reasons for the choice.

It is true that cues of uniqueness are not necessarily considered desirable across all situations and may even elicit negative reactions as they demonstrate features that are different from and unfamiliar to most people. But the goal to pursue creativity would likely drive the immediate affective judgments of an individual who displays goalrelevant cues of uniqueness to a positive valence (Ferguson & Bargh, 2004). The APE model suggests that while a stimulus can be associated with multiple concepts, what particular associations will be activated depends on how the set of input stimuli fit with the associative mental patterns that existed for a specific context (Gawronski & Bodenhausen, 2007; Gawronski & Creighton, 2013; Olson & Fazio, 2006). For example,

for the stimulus "alcohol," the associative patterns triggered by "virus" and "alcohol" may include concepts like "hygiene," which is a desirable concept and can lead to favorable attitudes. However, the stimuli "stress" and "alcohol" may be associated with "mental illness" and elicit negative attitudes. Similarly, while cues of uniqueness can be associated with negative concepts such as "weird," "bizarre," or "unfamiliar," they are likely to trigger associations with a favorable tone in a context related to creativity (Elsbach & Kramer, 2003; Lebuda & Karwowski, 2013; Loewenstein & Mueller, 2016). In the context of creative collaborations, people are guided by the goal of seeking different perspectives and generating unconventional ideas. This set of input stimuli (i.e., cues of uniqueness and goals for creativity) are more likely to activate associations between cues of uniqueness and concepts such as "novelty" and "unconventionality" as they are relevant and proximal to the creative collaboration context and ready to be activated (Ferguson & Bargh, 2004). Since these concepts are related to creativity and thus considered desirable for creative collaborations, cues of uniqueness can elicit liking for the displayer and increase creative collaboration intention in perceivers. Therefore, I propose:

*Hypothesis 1: Initial cues of uniqueness are positively related to perceivers' creative collaboration intention.* 

*Hypothesis 2: The positive relationship between cues of uniqueness and perceivers' creative collaboration intention is mediated by perceivers' liking for the displayer.* 

Furthermore, the implicit attitudes derived from associative thinking serve as the basis of more deliberate information processing (Chaiken & Ledgerwood, 2012;

Gawronski & Bodenhausen, 2007; Ingold et al., 2018). Indeed, to assess the extent to which they want to collaborate with an individual for a creative endeavor, people are motivated to draw from the limited informational cues available and make judgments on the interacting partner's creative potential, which is the expectation about whether the individual can think creatively to benefit the potential collaboration (Baten et al., 2021; Elsbach & Kramer, 2003; Proudfoot et al., 2021). The signaling perspective describes that observable cues can be signals of underlying attributes. When facing uncertainty with incomplete informational voids to serve their goals of social interactions (Connelly et al., 2011; Spence, 1973, 2002). Therefore, initial cues of uniqueness might be picked up as signals of one's creative potential and thus influence perceivers' judgments and creative collaboration intention.

Implicit theories and prototypes about creativity associate creativity with nonentrenchment and divergent thinking (Elsbach & Kramer, 2003; Loewenstein & Mueller, 2016). However, as the ability to think differently is not directly observable, people tend to draw from readily observable cues to infer an individual's creative potential (Elsbach & Kramer, 2003; Proudfoot et al., 2015). For example, behavioral cues of nonconformity and unique aesthetic taste are considered typical for creative individuals (Katz & Thompson, 1993; Sternberg, 1985). Elsbach and Kramer (2003) found that in line with the general lay theory that creative people were quirky, Hollywood producers tended to see greater creative potential in screenwriters with unconventional or unpolished appearances. Proudfoot and colleagues (2021) revealed that lay observers tend to perceive people who are socially independent of others (e.g., those who stay alone) as

having greater creative potential as they are less likely to be influenced by others' thoughts. In the same vein, initial cues of uniqueness might be interpreted as signals of one's potential to think differently.

Essentially, initial cues of uniqueness demonstrate certain unusual and distinctive features to others in early social interactions. They can signal the displayer's unique identity, the motives to express and be seen as unique, and unusual past experiences that can be informative for the inference of creative potential (Jonah Berger & Heath, 2007; Randel & Jaussi, 2017). For example, an individual's knowledge domains reflect what one knows and how one thinks. A study using a college student sample shows that academic courses are considered the most representative cues to infer one's personality among other types of cues such as one's hobbies or favorite books (Burroughs & Drews, 1991). Cues of unique knowledge domains such as a unique major suggest an individual's unusual interests in certain domains and signal unique academic training or learning experiences they have. Cues of uniqueness regarding one's knowledge domains thus may be interpreted as a signal of one's different ways of problem-solving and the ability to retrieve information from unusual fields, which can be beneficial to generating creative ideas.

Appearance styles such as clothing and hairstyle are used as an important approach to communicating people's individuality and a sense of distinctive self-concept (Berger & Heath, 2007; Lynn & Snyder, 2002). When observing cues of an individual's unique appearance style, perceivers tend to see them as signals of one's strong motivation to be seen as unusual and an expression of one's sense of uniqueness. Having the desire for uniqueness as well as the feelings of being different from others in a social context are

found to be positively related to individuals' creativity as generating novel and useful ideas can be a manifestation of seeking uniqueness (Goncalo & Staw, 2006; Randel & Jaussi, 2017). For example, when people have a feeling of being different from others after experiencing social rejection or a sense of entitlement, they are more willing to challenge the norms and explore unusual approaches and thus demonstrate better creative performance (Kim et al., 2013; Zitek & Vincent, 2015). Therefore, cues of unique appearance style can be understood as signals of one's motives to be different from convention, indicating the potential for engaging in out-of-the-box thinking and generating unconventional ideas.

Finally, while unique names are usually decided by parents and unlikely chosen by individuals as an expression of their uniqueness, they carry salient identity meanings and can be viewed as a signal of one's creative potential. For example, people tend to assign individuals with unique names to positions that require more creativity in an experimental setting (Bao et al., 2020). Paintings, poems, and musical pieces composed by individuals whose names are unique are assessed as more creative (Lebuda & Karwowski, 2013). Indeed, unique names can signal to perceivers that the individual may develop a unique self-concept. As unique names are rarely encountered in the population and names are the fundamental identifier of people used in social interactions on a regular basis, people with unique names are likely to be seen by others as different (Gebauer et al., 2012; Twenge & Manis, 1998). Growing up with a unique identity label, people with unique names tend to internalize others' perceptions of them and develop a sense of being different from peers (Kalist & Lee, 2009; Y. Kang et al., 2021; Simonsohn, 2011; Zwebner et al., 2017). Such a self-concept of distinctiveness may motivate people to explore unusual approaches and think in an unconventional way (Goncalo & Krause, 2010; Y. Kang et al., 2021; Kim et al., 2013). Furthermore, a unique name may indicate an individual's unusual social or cultural background (Bonefeld & Dickhäuser, 2018; Twenge & Manis, 1998), which can signal the individual's different perspectives and the potential to recruit ideas from different social contexts (Maddux & Galinsky, 2009).

Perceptions of an individual's creative potential will then increase a perceiver's creative collaboration intention with the individual. Essentially, a rational decision about whether to collaborate with another individual depends on the expected outcomes of this mutual collaboration (Baten et al., 2021; Tsai et al., 2020). When perceiving a high level of creative potential of an individual, perceivers would expect the individual to think differently and provide novel ideas and perspectives, which can benefit their mutual effort in generating novel and useful outcomes. Therefore, initial cues of uniqueness may enhance perceivers' creative collaboration intention as they provide signals that lead to inferences of greater creative potential. Formally, I propose:

*Hypothesis 3: The positive relationship between cues of uniqueness and perceivers' creative collaboration intention is mediated by perceived creative potential (of the displayer).* 

Thus far, I have hypothesized that initial cues of uniqueness can enhance perceivers' creative collaboration intention as cues of uniqueness can serve as signals of creative potential and trigger associations with creativity-relevant concepts and thus give rise to positive affective reactions (i.e., liking). However, the effects of cues of uniqueness may depend on certain contextual factors. According to the APE model, the activation of particular associations is determined by the associative structures in which

the stimuli are embedded (Gawronski & Bodenhausen, 2011). In other words, whether cues of uniqueness can activate positive associations with attributes desirable for creative collaborations depends on how these associations are constructed and accessible in people's minds. Further, based on the signaling perspective, not all informational cues are considered signals, and the effectiveness of signals may depend on the visibility and credibility of the informational cues (Connelly et al., 2011). Essentially, the perceiver, the displayer, and the social environment all play significant roles in shaping the relationship between initial cues of uniqueness and creative collaboration intention. Perceivers' interpretation of uniqueness, displayers' competence and status to legitimize their uniqueness, and the extent to which uniqueness is encouraged or inhibited in the social environment can shape pre-existing associative structures and strength of signals (Bellezza et al., 2013; Dunton & Fazio, 1997; Greenwald et al., 1998; Zhou et al., 2017). Therefore, I further investigate the contextual factors of displayers, perceivers, and the environment that influence the structure of associative links as well as the effectiveness of the signaling effect of initial cues of uniqueness.

#### **3.2** The Moderating Role of Perceivers' Need for Uniqueness

Research has suggested that people generally have a need for uniqueness—a desire to see themselves as distinct from others (Fromkin & Snyder, 1980; Lynn & Snyder, 2002). However, the strength of this need varies among individuals, and the need for uniqueness has been considered an individual difference (Snyder & Fromkin, 1980). Such individual differences in the need for uniqueness may influence associative structures regarding unique stimuli in perceivers' minds and their attention to and interpretation of cues of uniqueness as signals (Ames & Iyengar, 2005; Bellezza et al.,

2013). It may thus moderate the relationship between initial cues of uniqueness and perceivers' creative collaboration intention.

People with a high need for uniqueness tend to place significant values on uniqueness and are motivated to seek and embrace the uniqueness, novelty, and unusualness of people and objects (Ames & Iyengar, 2005; Fromkin & Snyder, 1980). For example, need for uniqueness is found to be associated with consumers' preferences for novel, scarce, customized, and less popular products as well as unconventional shopping venues (Chan et al., 2012; Lynn & Harris, 1997; Tian & McKenzie, 2001; White & Argo, 2011). Studies also show that individuals with a stronger need for uniqueness indicate preferences for unusual designs of products and unique first names (Ames & Iyengar, 2005); they also demonstrate greater creativity as it is a demonstration of their uniqueness (Dollinger, 2003; Zitek & Vincent, 2015). Therefore, perceivers with a high level of need for uniqueness and interpret an individual's uniqueness with a positive lens.

Specifically, from the associative evaluation perspective, while cues of uniqueness may trigger associations with creativity relevant concepts since uniqueness and creativity share the similarity that both emphasize dissimilarity, another important aspect of creativity is that it is considered useful and valuable (Randel & Jaussi, 2017; Vincent & Kouchaki, 2016). When perceivers have a greater need for uniqueness, they are more likely to appreciate cues of uniqueness and see unique attributes as more valuable (Fromkin & Snyder, 1980; Lynn & Harris, 1997; Lynn & Snyder, 2002). In this way, cues of uniqueness share more feature similarities with creativity and can thus be

more likely to activate associations with attributes related to creativity (Gawronski & Bodenhausen, 2006, 2011). Further, as perceivers with a high need for uniqueness have a strong desire to feel unique and tend to see unique attributes as desirable, they may have more positive associations with uniqueness constructed in their minds. More positive associations are thus prone to be activated compared to people with a low need for uniqueness (Ames & Iyengar, 2005; Dollinger, 2003). Therefore, when observing initial cues of uniqueness of an individual, more positive associations are likely to be activated, eliciting greater liking towards the individual and thus stronger creative collaboration intention.

Hypothesis 4a: Perceivers' need for uniqueness moderates the positive relationship between initial cues of uniqueness and liking such that the positive relationship is stronger (vs. weaker) when a perceiver has a higher (vs. lower) need for uniqueness.

Hypothesis 4b: Perceivers' need for uniqueness moderates the indirect relationship between initial cues of uniqueness and perceivers' creative collaboration intention via liking, such that the positive relationship is stronger (vs. weaker) when a perceiver has a higher (vs. lower) need for uniqueness.

From the signaling perspective, cues of uniqueness are more likely to attract the attention of observers with a higher need for uniqueness, and these cues are more likely to be interpreted as signals of desirable underlying attributes. For example, research has found that observers with a higher need for uniqueness are more likely to interpret nonconforming outfits as signals of status, competence, and autonomy (Bellezza et al., 2014). Likewise, when perceivers have high levels of need for uniqueness, I expect that

they are more inclined to see cues of uniqueness as salient and reliable signals of the individual's creative potential, because people with a higher need for uniqueness tend to see being different from other people in a social context as preferable (Lynn & Harris, 1997; Zitek & Vincent, 2015). When gleaning signals of one's creative potential, they are likely to assign more weight to individuals' cues of uniqueness and interpret these cues as meaningful and relevant signs of one's ability to think creatively (Ferguson & Bargh, 2004). However, perceivers with a lower need for uniqueness may see initial cues of uniqueness less favorably and discount their signaling value for desirable attributes such as creative potential (Bellezza et al., 2014).

Hypothesis 5a: Perceivers' need for uniqueness moderates the positive relationship between initial cues of uniqueness and perceived creative potential such that the positive relationship is stronger (vs. weaker) when a perceiver has a higher (vs. lower) need for uniqueness.

Hypothesis 5b: Perceivers' need for uniqueness moderates the indirect relationship between initial cues of uniqueness and perceivers' creative collaboration intention via perceived creative potential such that the positive relationship is stronger (vs. weaker) when a perceiver has a higher (vs. lower) need for uniqueness.

## **3.3** The Moderating Role of Displayer's Competence-Based Status

Status refers to "the extent to which an individual or group is respected or admired by others (Magee & Galinsky, 2008, p. 359). In particular, in task-oriented social interactions, status is primarily based on the expected competence of individuals that can make valuable contributions to the common performance goals (Joseph Berger et al.,

1972; C. Ridgeway, 1991; C. L. Ridgeway & Berger, 1986; Sheldon et al., 2006). As status serves the critical functions of providing orders and facilitating collaborations, information regarding one's competence (e.g., knowledge and skills) is essential in early social interactions as competence-based status can be developed rapidly and guide social interactions (Susan T. Fiske, 2018; Susan T. Fiske & Bai, 2020; Magee & Galinsky, 2008). According to the APE theory and signaling theory, I theorize that the displayer's competence-based status can determine what sets of associations are more likely to be triggered by cues of uniqueness as well as influence the signal strength of cues of uniqueness.

Essentially, being different from other people in a social context can lead to perceivers' negative reactions or rejections and thus comes with social costs (Bellezza et al., 2014; Cialdini & Goldstein, 2004). However, an individual's status may provide a buffer against the potential negative ramifications and risks of deviating from normative expectations (Bowles & Gelfand, 2010; Hollander, 1958; Ridgeway, 1981). For example, Hollander's (1958) idiosyncrasy credit theory articulates that as members of a group have greater attributes that are valuable to the common goals and thus gain higher status, they also gain credits to deviate from the common behavioral expectations before getting sanctioned. Accordingly, research shows that people of lower status face more severe punishments for workplace deviance compared to their higher status counterparts (Bowles & Gelfand, 2010). Employees tend to grant more lenience to transgressing leaders whom they perceive as more competent, inspirational, and thus valuable to their organization (Shapiro et al., 2011). When experiencing time delays from a collaborating partner in remote collaborations, people are less likely to have negative evaluations of the partner and are more inclined to accept the partner's influence on the task if the partner is knowledgeable and experienced with the task (i.e., with a high status; Sheldon et al., 2006). In the same vein, as cues of uniqueness represent a deviation from normative and common features in a social environment (Lynn & Snyder, 2002), people with higher competence-based status are less likely to face unfavorable social reactions when displaying cues of uniqueness in initial interactions.

Therefore, according to the associative evaluation perspective, when displaying initial cues of uniqueness, displayers of higher competence-based status are more likely to activate positive associations in perceivers' minds compared to lower-status displayers. Specifically, as people with higher competence-based status have more desirable attributes valuable for the collaboration (e.g., relevant knowledge and experience), they also enjoy the latitude to be unique without eliciting social rejections (Ridgeway, 1981; Sheldon et al., 2006). Initial cues of uniqueness displayed by someone who stands at a higher status are thus less likely to be seen through a negative lens as bizarre but activate associations with positive attributes such as novelty and free-spirited. Furthermore, when the displayer of cues of uniqueness has high competence-based status, more competencerelevant information is available for perceivers. Cues of uniqueness are likely to attract more attention to the displayer's autonomy and competence, activating more associations with competence-related concepts and leading to perceivers' favorable affective gut reactions (Bellezza et al., 2014; Ridge, 1981, 1991; Sheldon et al., 2006). However, if the displayer has a lower status, there is more uncertainty about the individual's competence and value for potential collaborations. Initial cues of uniqueness that are unfamiliar and unusual to people thus may be seen as quirky and make uncertainty more salient, leading

to fewer positive associations and less liking towards the displayer. These concerns thus weaken the relationship between initial cues of uniqueness and perceivers' intention to collaborate with the displayer for creativity (Oostrom et al., 2021; Ridgeway, 1981).

Hypothesis 6a: The displayer's competence-based status moderates the positive relationship between initial cues of uniqueness and perceivers' liking for the displayer such that the positive relationship is stronger (vs. weaker) when the displayer has a higher (vs. lower) competence-based status.

Hypothesis 6b: The displayer's competence-based status moderates the indirect relationship between initial cues of uniqueness and perceivers' creative collaboration intention via liking such that the positive relationship is stronger (vs. weaker) when the displayer has a higher (vs. lower) competence-based status.

Moreover, the displayer's competence-based status may influence the strength of initial cues of uniqueness as signals of one's creative potential (Bergh et al., 2014; Bird & Smith, 2005; Connelly et al., 2011). According to signaling theory, the effectiveness of signals depends on the extent to which the signals are costly and visible (Connelly et al., 2011; Milgrom & Roberts, 1986). The more salient and visible a signal is, the more likely perceivers can observe and infer underlying attributes from the signal. And the more costly a signal is, the more the signal is deemed credible by perceivers because falsifying a costly signal may take a toll rather than bring benefits (Bird & Smith, 2005; Connelly et al., 2011). Since people of higher social hierarchies tend to have more leeway to behave as they want and be different from anyone else (Bowles & Gelfand, 2010; Hollander, 1958; Van Kleef et al., 2011), initial cues of uniqueness displayed by an individual of higher status may be seen as less surprising or salient. Indeed, behaving in an

unconventional way or demonstrating unusual attributes is associated with people with a higher status (Bellezza et al., 2014; Van Kleef et al., 2021). Initial cues of uniqueness are thus less noteworthy to perceivers as valuable signals of creative potential for someone with higher competence-based status.

Furthermore, initial cues of uniqueness may risk being seen as bizarre and indeed carry potential social costs of being rejected, and such costs are higher for displayers with lower status as they have lower credit to behave idiosyncratically (Bellezza et al., 2014; Bowles & Gelfand, 2010; Cotton et al., 2008; Oostrom et al., 2021; Sheldon et al., 2006). In this case, the signaling effects of cues of uniqueness are stronger as they are seemed more costly for lower-status displayers (Bergh et al., 2014; Bird & Smith, 2005). When a displayer has a lower status, displaying cues of uniqueness signals greater unconventionality and thus creative potential than those who do not display cues of uniqueness. However, in terms of a higher-status displayer, cues of uniqueness are less costly and thus less likely to be interpreted as a strong signal that influences the judgment of the displayers with cues of uniqueness or not will be less salient. Therefore, initial cues of uniqueness are more effective in eliciting inference of creative potential when the displayer has a lower competence-based status.

Hypothesis 7a: The displayer's competence-based status moderates the positive relationship between initial cues of uniqueness and perceived creative potential such that the positive relationship is stronger (vs. weaker) when the displayer has a lower (vs. higher) competence-based status.

Hypothesis 7b: The displayer's competence-based status moderates the indirect relationship between initial cues of uniqueness and perceivers' creative collaboration intention via perceived creative potential such that the positive relationship is stronger (vs. weaker) when the displayer has a lower (vs. higher) competence-based status.

## 3.4 The Moderating Role of Cultural Tightness-Looseness

Cultural tightness-looseness is defined as "the strength of social norms and the degree of sanctioning within societies." (Gelfand et al., 2006). It reflects the degree to which there are prevalent and clearly defined norms in collectives and the tolerance for deviations from the norms, which can be manifested at the societal level or in organizations or teams (Gelfand, 2018; Qin et al., 2021). Social norms and culture can have a powerful influence on how individuals process information and make decisions via shaping cognitive thinking patterns and schematizing information in people's minds (DiMaggio, 1997; Kitayama & Uskul, 2011; Varnum et al., 2010). They also constitute the social environment that contextualizes the display and interpretation of signals (Bird & Smith, 2005; Connelly et al., 2011). Cultural tightness-looseness is especially pertinent to the perceptions of initial cues of uniqueness and propensity to collaborate with seemingly unique individuals for creativity. First, as cues of uniqueness represent individuals' features that are rare and different from normative manifestations, the strength of normative expectations and norm enforcement should directly influence how people receive cues of uniqueness. Second, cultural tightness-looseness is found to play an essential role in shaping people's perceptions and beliefs about creativity (Chua et al., 2015; Jackson et al., 2019). Therefore, cultural tightness-looseness may construct the

mental associations with cues of uniqueness and the interpretations of these cues as to signal creative potential (Aktas et al., 2016; Connelly et al., 2011; Gawronski & Sritharan, 2010).

Specifically, under a tighter culture, wherein there are explicit norms and a lower tolerance for deviance, negative associations with deviances from the norms are more established and accessible in people's minds (Aarts & Dijksterhuis, 2003; Gelfand et al., 2006; Shepherd, 2011). For example, people in tighter cultures are more inclined to favor and endorse leadership to those who abide by norms rather than challenge norms (Stamkou et al., 2019). Tight cultures feature clear normative expectations and consistent norm enforcement. People in such cultures thus have a tendency to avoid uncertainty and impose regulations on their own and others' norm-violating behaviors (Chua et al., 2015; Gelfand et al., 2006; Liu et al., 2018). As uniqueness reflects deviating from the attributes or practices adopted by the majority of people, cues of an individual's uniqueness that seem unfamiliar and different from norms may raise concerns and be seen as less desirable in a tighter culture (Jackson et al., 2019). Furthermore, implicit theories regarding attributes associated with creativity differ across cultures (Loewenstein & Mueller, 2016; Morris & Leung, 2010; Niu & Sternberg, 2002). As people in a tighter culture are primed to value consistency, efficiency, and order, as well as tend to take a prevention focus and adaptor cognitive styles, uniqueness may not be a prioritized attributes associated with creativity (Chua et al., 2015; Zhou et al., 2017). Accordingly, even in creative collaborations that require novel and different perspectives, positive associations between cues of uniqueness and creativity-relevant concepts may be suppressed in a tight culture that underscores norms. Initial cues of uniqueness thus less

readily elicit favorable reactions such as liking (Christopher, 1998; Gawronski & Sritharan, 2010; Gebauer et al., 2012). On the contrary, in a looser culture where there is a higher tolerance for deviance and more leeway for unconventionality and uniqueness (Chua et al., 2015; Gelfand et al., 2006; Jackson et al., 2019), the implicit associations between cues of uniqueness and positive concepts such as "novel" or "special" are more prone to be activated. People in a looser culture are also more likely to have a favorable attitude towards uniqueness. For example, a study demonstrates that in years when the societal culture is looser, people have a preference for unique names (Jackson et al., 2019). Therefore, in a looser culture, perceivers are more likely to like and have a stronger creative collaboration intention with people who display cues of uniqueness in initial interactions.

Hypothesis 8a: Cultural tightness-looseness in the environment moderates the positive relationship between initial cues of uniqueness and liking for the displayer such that the positive relationship is stronger (vs. weaker) in a looser (vs. tighter) culture.

Hypothesis 8b: Cultural tightness-looseness in the environment moderates the indirect relationship between initial cues of uniqueness and perceivers' creative collaboration intention via liking such that the positive relationship is stronger (vs. weaker) in a looser (vs. tighter) culture.

Cultural tightness-looseness also serves the milieu in which the signal strength of cues of uniqueness may vary (Connelly et al., 2011). Cues of uniqueness such as a unique appearance style or name can be interpreted as signals of one's unique identity and desire to express uniqueness, leading to inferences of the individual's creative potential (Bao et

al., 2020; Kim et al., 2013; Proudfoot et al., 2021). In a tight culture wherein there are clear norms and people may face sanctions for violating norms, the signal strength of cues of uniqueness may be augmented as such cues seem more prominent (Connelly et al., 2011; Gelfand et al., 2006). Since there are prevailing norms and constraints on behaviors in an environment featuring cultural tightness, people tend to behave in accordance with normative expectations and share homogenous experiences, leading to greater between-individual similarities in the social context (Gelfand et al., 2006). Cues of uniqueness are thus more unusual and stand out in a tighter culture, leading to greater inferences regarding one's unique identity and different perspectives, which are indicative of creative potential (Lee & Kramer, 2016). Furthermore, seeing the constraints and regulations of nonconformists in a tight culture, people may see cues of uniqueness as more costly signals of one's potential to break the norms and generate unconventional ideas (Bellezza et al., 2014; Bird & Smith, 2005). In contrast, when the environment features a looser culture with weaker norms and freedom to behave idiosyncratically, there is greater variance between individuals in terms of attributes or behaviors (Bandura, 2002; Gelfand, 2006, 2012). Since individuals may all demonstrate varieties of uniqueness, cues of uniqueness may be seen as less costly or special in such a context and be less potent in signaling the displayer's creative potential. Therefore, I propose:

Hypothesis 9a: Cultural tightness-looseness in the environment moderates the positive relationship between initial cues of uniqueness and perceived creative potential such that the positive relationship is stronger (vs. weaker) in a tighter (vs. looser) culture.

Hypothesis 9b: Cultural tightness-looseness in the environment moderates the indirect relationship between initial cues of uniqueness and perceivers' creative collaboration intention via perceived creative potential such that the positive relationship is stronger (vs. weaker) in a tighter (vs. looser) culture.

## CHAPTER 4 METHODS AND RESULTS

I first focus on the micro psychological processes and examine the psychological mechanism through which initial cues of uniqueness influence perceivers' creative collaboration intention using experiments (Studies 1 to 3). Next, I examine whether the hypothesized relationship between initial cues of uniqueness and creative collaboration intention can manifest in a real-world setting by leveraging large-scale archival datasets of name uniqueness and scientists' publications and collaborations (Study 4).

#### 4.1 Study 1: Cues of Uniqueness and Creative Collaboration Intention

## 4.1.1 Procedure and Sample

I recruited 284 full-time working adults from the online panel Prolific to participate in this study. Each participant was compensated with 2 dollars for completing this study. For online studies with little researcher-participant interactions, participants who do not pay attention to study instructions (i.e., Insufficient Effort Responding, or IER) could influence data quality and significantly jeopardize researchers' ability to interpret the data (Bowling & Huang, 2018; Huang et al., 2015). I thus used two pre-set rules to detect IER and ensure data quality in all three online experiments (Huang et al., 2015; Kung et al., 2018). First, I inserted three attention check items in the study (e.g., "If you are reading this, please select 'strongly disagree'"), and respondents who failed two or more attention checks were excluded from the analyses. Second, participants who spent less than two seconds on each question were excluded. This effort excluded three careless respondents for this study, leaving a final sample of 281 participants. The average age of the participants was 32.58 (SD = 9.23), and 53.4% of them were women. Among the participants, 5% had a high-school level education, 16% had some college

education but no degree, 34.2% had a Bachelor's degree, 39.9% had a Master's degree, and 5% had a Doctoral degree.

After indicating their consent, the participants were instructed to collaborate with another participant online to complete two tasks. One is a generic task that requires them to proofread a short report without changing any substantial information in it. This task does not require creativity. The other is an idea generation task, which requires them to come up with novel and useful ideas to fill in a vacancy left by a mismanaged restaurant at a university campus. This creative task has been used by prior creativity studies (e.g., Goncalo & Staw, 2006). The instructions for the two tasks were presented in a counterbalanced order. After reading the instructions for each task, participants were told that they were randomly matched with two other online participants and could choose one of them to collaborate on the task. The same collaborator could be chosen for both tasks. The two ostensible collaborators were in fact fictional and served as manipulations of initial cues of uniqueness. Among the two collaborators, one demonstrated cues of uniqueness (unique name, appearance, or knowledge domain) and the other did not (see Appendix A). Participants were randomly assigned to view two collaborators in a counterbalanced order differing on one type of cue. Participants then indicated with whom they would like to collaborate on each task. Finally, they completed a short survey on manipulation checks, their perceptions of the two individuals' creative potential, and demographic questions before they were debriefed.

## 4.1.2 Manipulation

#### Cues of Uniqueness

The detailed manipulation stimuli are presented in Appendix A. Two first names, Michael and Mican, were used to manipulate names as a cue of uniqueness. The two names have similar phonetic features but are distinctly different in their uniqueness. Specifically, the name "Michael" has ranked as the 4<sup>th</sup> most popular male name in the U.S. for the past 100 years. However, the name "Mican" never ranked among the 1000 most popular names in the U.S. For the manipulation of appearance style, headshots of two young white males were presented. An online artificial intelligence-powered facegenerating tool was used to generate faces with the same age range and racial/ethnical features (e.g., skin and eye color). One of the individuals' photos was processed such that his hair was dyed in blue (unique) while the other' is in the original dark brown color. As for knowledge domain cues, the high uniqueness condition features a potential collaborator who has a bachelor's degree in Oceanography and Coastal Science, while the low uniqueness condition has a potential collaborator with a bachelor's degree in Computer and Information Science. The two science majors were chosen to account for the potential influence of stereotypes related to people majoring in science. Oceanography and Coastal Science is an unusual major in college, while Computer and Information Science is among the most popular undergraduate science majors, according to the National Center for Education Statistics (NCES, 2020).

#### 4.1.3 Measures

#### Manipulation Checks

To examine the effectiveness of the cues of uniqueness manipulation, participants reported the extent to which they think each fictional collaborator's name/appearance style/knowledge domain is *unique*, *uncommon*, *distinctive*, and *rare* (1 = strongly)

*disagree*, 5 = strongly agree). The Cronbach's  $\alpha$  is .93. The manipulation check results indicate that the manipulations of cues of uniqueness were effective as participants assessed the unique cues as more rare and distinctive than those in the nonunique condition ( $M_{unique} = 3.98$ , SD = .76;  $M_{non-unique} = 2.62$ , SD = .1.32),  $t_{(1, 280)} = 14.40$ , p < .001.

## **Collaboration Intention**

Participants indicated their collaboration intention on each task by directly choosing a collaborator as well as responding on a 6-point scale ranging from 1 (*Definitely Collaborator A*) to 6 (*Definitely Collaborator B*). As the two ostensible collaborators showed up in a counterbalanced order, this variable was recoded such that a higher score indicated a stronger intention to collaborate with the individual with cues of uniqueness.

## Perceived Creative Potential

To measure perceived creative potential in the target individual, I used two items from Proudfoot and Fath (2021) as well as two items developed for this study: (1) "How likely is [Collaborator's name] to come up with creative ideas that no one has thought of before?" (2) "How likely is [Collaborator's name] to come up with truly innovative ideas?" (3) How likely is [Collaborator's name] to have unconventional perspectives? (4) How likely is [Collaborator's name] to have approaches different from others to solve problems? Participants assessed the creative potential of the target individual on a 5-point Likert-type scale ranging from 1 (*not at all likely*) to 5 (*extremely likely*). The Cronbach's  $\alpha$  was .85.

## 4.1.4 Results

To examine whether people are more likely to choose a collaborator who demonstrates cues of uniqueness in a creative task than in a generic task, I first conducted a paired chi-square test (i.e., McNemar's test) to examine the differences in people's choices of collaborators in both tasks. The results show that while more participants chose the non-unique individual in a generic task (n = 168, 59.79%), when it comes to a creative task, more participants chose the unique individual as collaborator (n = 146, 51.96%; See Figure 2), and such difference is statistically significant ( $\chi^2 = 7.59$ , p = .006). I then examined the collaboration intention score difference using a repeatedmeasure Analysis of Variance (ANOVA). The results also show that people are more inclined to choose an individual demonstrating cues of uniqueness as collaborator in a creative task (M = 3.50, SE = .09) than in a generic task (M = 3.25, SE = .09,  $F_{(1, 278)} =$ 6.45, p = .01). And the interaction between uniqueness and types of cues is not significant  $(F_{(2, 278)} = .92, ns)$ , suggesting that this relationship does not change due to the types of cues. These results indicate that when the goal of the collaboration is generating novel and useful ideas, individuals are more likely to gravitate toward those who demonstrate cues of uniqueness, supporting the relationship between cues of uniqueness and creative collaboration intention. These results provide support for Hypothesis 1.



Figure 2. Choices of Collaborators in a Generic Task vs. Creative Task (Study 1)

Furthermore, repeated-measure ANOVA results also show that participants inferred the individual displaying cues of uniqueness as having greater creative potential ( $M_{unique} = 3.74, SD = .04$ ) than the individual who did not display cues of uniqueness ( $M_{nonunique} = 3.57, SD = .05; F_{(1, 278)} = 9.13, p = .003$ ), and such relationship is not influenced by the types of cues ( $F_{(2, 278)} = 2.02, ns$ ).

#### 4.1.5 Study 1 Discussion

This study examines that compared to a task that does not require creativity, whether people have a stronger intention to collaborate with an individual who displays cues of uniqueness (a unique name, appearance style, or knowledge domain). The results show that while preferences for familiarity are powerful, as people are more likely to choose a collaborator who did not display any cues of uniqueness in a generic task context, people are likely to collaborate with an individual who displayed cues of uniqueness in a creative task, in support of Hypothesis 1. The findings of this study also rule out an alternative explanation that cues of uniqueness may attract more attention in general and thus make unique individuals more likely to be chosen, providing evidence on the relationship between initial cues of uniqueness and *creative* collaboration intention, rather than collaboration intention in general. This study also provides preliminary evidence that cues of uniqueness could increase perceptions of the displayer's creative potential as participants rated higher creative potential in the individual demonstrating cues of uniqueness regardless of the types of the cues. Next, in Study 2 and Study 3, I will use the experimental vignette methodology (Aguinis & Bradley, 2014) to examine the hypothesized psychological mechanisms linking initial cues of uniqueness and creative collaboration intention, as well as the moderating effects of contextual factors of the perceiver, displayer, and environment.

### 4.2 Study 2: Moderating Effect of Displayer's Competence-Based Status

## 4.2.1 Participants and Procedure

I recruited 222 full-time working adults from the online panel Prolific to participate in this online vignette-based experiment and did not detect insufficient effort responses, so all the 222 participants were included in the analyses. The average age of the participants was 35.05 years (SD = 10.29), and 50.5% of them were men. Among the participants, 6.8% had a high-school or equivalent education, 24.3% had an associate degree or some college education but no degree, 45.5% had a Bachelor's degree, 17.6% had a Master's degree, and 5.9% had a Doctoral degree.

This study used a 2 (*cues of uniqueness*: unique vs. non-unique)  $\times$  2 (*competence-based status*: high vs. low) between-subjects design. In this study, participants were

required to imagine themselves as a consultant working for a management consulting company specializing in the art and culture industry. They were then randomly assigned to one of the four conditions. The detailed vignettes are described in Appendix B. Specifically, participants were told that a new member joined their work group, who either demonstrated cues of uniqueness (i.e., a unique name, appearance style, and major) or not. Participants also read a description of the new colleague's educational background and prior work experience as manipulation of their competence-based status. Participants then assessed the extent to which they liked the new colleague as well as the perceived creative potential of the colleague. The setting for creative collaboration is adapted from a team creativity task used in prior studies (e.g., Hoever et al., 2012, 2018). Participants were informed that there is a project to develop a novel and useful action plan for a theatre's marketing strategies. This project is very important as the theatre is a major client of the company and consultants are free to collaborate with any colleagues or work alone on this project. Participants indicated their willingness to collaborate with this colleague on the creative project as the measure of their creative collaboration intention. Finally, they finished a survey on manipulation checks and control variables before they were debriefed and thanked.

#### 4.2.2 Manipulations

#### Cues of Uniqueness Manipulation

A written description of the new colleague was used to manipulate cues of uniqueness. In the unique condition, the colleague's name is Mican, who has a degree in an uncommon major and wears "clothes that would be considered to be business casual but with a unique twist." While in the low uniqueness condition, the colleague named

Michael, who has a degree in a popular major and wears clothes that would be considered to be typical business casual. Participants indicated the extent to which they think the new colleague's name, clothes, and knowledge domain were *uncommon*, *distinctive*, *unusual*, and *rare* (1 = *strongly disagree* to 7 = *strongly agree*;  $\alpha$  = .97) as a manipulation check. Manipulation check results indicate that this manipulation was effective ( $M_{unique}$  = 5.62, SD = .89;  $M_{nonunique}$  = 2.31, SD = 1.16;  $t_{(220)}$  = 23.91, p < .001).

#### **Displayer Competence-Based Status Manipulation**

The displayer's competence-based status reflects the extent to which the displayer has knowledge, skills, and expertise that are potentially valuable for completing job tasks in the workplace and thus can elicit respect from others (Magee & Galinsky, 2008; Sheldon et al., 2006). The displayer's prior educational and work experiences are used as manipulation of the displayer's competence-based status, and the manipulation stimuli are adapted from previous studies on expertise and competence-based status in the workplace (e.g., Bowles & Gelfand, 2010; Sheldon et al., 2006; Whiting et al., 2012). The new colleague's age is set as 33 years old across all conditions to account for the confounding associations between experience and age. In the high status condition, the new colleague was described as having an MBA from Harvard Business School and "plentiful experience in developing business development and marketing plans" with "a strong track record of good performance." In the low status condition, the new colleague has an MBA from a less renowned private institution with limited experience in developing business development and marketing plans and "little track record of performance." Three items ( $\alpha = .95$ ; Bellezza et al., 2014; Bowles & Gelfand, 2010) were used as manipulation check: 1) "I think [Name] has \_\_\_\_ " (1 = very low regard in terms of

*his expertise*; 7 = very high regard in terms of his expertise); 2) How well respected is[Name] due to his competence? (1 =*Not respected at all*; 7 =*Extremely well respected*);3) Where do you think [Name] would stand in terms of his competence and expertise? (1=*Lowest status*; 7 =*Highest status*). Manipulation check results suggest that this $manipulation was effective (<math>M_{high} = 5.86$ , SD = .79;  $M_{low} = 3.20$ , SD = 1.04;  $t_{(220)} = 21.51$ , p < .001).

### 4.2.3 Measures

## Liking

Participants liking for the displayer was measured on a 7-point Likert scale (1 = *strongly disagree*, 7 = *strongly agree*) using the four items developed by Wayne and Ferris (1990). This scale showed good reliability in this study with a Cronbach's  $\alpha$  of .92. A sample item was "I would likely get along well with [Name]."

#### Perceived Creative Potential

I used the same items as used in Study 1 to measure perceived creative potential on a 7-point scale ranging from 1 (*not at all likely*) to 7 (*extremely likely*). The Cronbach's  $\alpha$  in this study was .94.

# Creative Collaboration Intention

Participants indicated their creative collaboration intention on a 7-point scale (1 = *not at all* to 7 = *to a great extent*) using the six items from Tsai et al. (2020). This scale showed satisfactory reliability in this study (Cronbach's  $\alpha$  = .96). A sample item was "I would collaborate with [Name] on devising creative solutions."

## Need for Uniqueness

Participants' need for uniqueness was measured using the four-item scale developed by Lynn and Harris (1997). On a 5-point Likert scale, participants answered four questions to report the extent to which they like to be different from other people. A sample item was "I prefer being \_\_\_\_\_ different from other people." (1 = no, 2 = slightly, 3 = moderately, 4 = very, 5 = extremely). The Cronbach's  $\alpha$  is .86.

## **Controls**

Participants' age, gender, and education were controlled for in the analyses. As participants' creative self-efficacy and agreeableness may influence the extent to which they would seek collaborations with others on creative tasks, I measured and controlled for participants' creative self-efficacy using the three-item scale developed by Tierney and Farmer (2002; Cronbach's  $\alpha = .90$  in this study), and also controlled for agreeableness (Cronbach's  $\alpha = .91$ ; Goldberg, 1992).

## 4.2.4 Results

I first tested the influence of initial cues of uniqueness and the interaction between initial cues of uniqueness and the perceiver's need of uniqueness on liking (for the displayer), perceived creative potential, and perceivers' creative collaboration intention. A multivariate analysis of variance (MANOVA) results reveal that participants indicated a stronger intention to collaborate with the new colleague on the creative project when the colleague displayed cues of uniqueness in an initial interaction ( $M_{unique} = 5.93$ , SE= .10;  $M_{nonunique} = 4.83$ , SE = .11;  $F_{(1, 218)} = 55.05$ , p < .001,  $\eta_p^2 = .20$ ), supporting Hypothesis 1. Results also show that participants in the unique cues condition like the displayer better ( $M_{unique} = 5.33$ , SE = .08) than perceivers in the nonunique cues conditions ( $M_{nonunique} = 4.71$ , SE = .09;  $F_{(1, 218)} = 27.30$ , p < .001,  $\eta_p^2 = .11$ ) and reported

higher perceived creative potential ( $M_{unique} = 5.76$ , SE = .09;  $M_{nonunique} = 4.19$ , SE = .10;  $F_{(1,218)} = 135.45$ , p < .001,  $\eta_p^2 = .38$ ) of the displayer with cues of uniqueness. The direct effects of initial cues of uniqueness on perceivers' liking (for the displayer), perceived creative potential, and creative collaboration intention are illustrated in Figure 3. Furthermore, both liking for the displayer (b = .39, SE = .07, p < .001) and perceived creative potential of the displayer (b = .54, SE = .06, p < .001) are positively related to perceivers' creative collaboration intention. I then tested the mediating effects of liking and perceived creative potential with the bootstrapping method using the PROCESS macro (Hayes, 2018). The results demonstrate that the positive indirect relationship between initial cues of uniqueness and perceivers' creative collaboration intention via liking (indirect effect = .25, 95% CI [.12, .41]) and perceived creative potential (indirect effect = .86, 95% CI [.56, 1.18]) are both significant, providing support for Hypotheses 2 and 3.



**Figure 3.** Effect of Initial Cues of Uniqueness on Perceivers' Liking, Creative Potential, and Creative Collaboration Intention (Study 2) *Note.* Error bars indicate the standard error of the mean.

In terms of the moderating effect of perceivers' need for uniqueness, results show that the interaction between initial cues of uniqueness and perceivers' need for uniqueness is not related to liking for the displayer (b = .21, SE = .12, p = .09), which did not support Hypothesis 4a. But the interaction is significantly associated with perceived creative potential (b = .32, SE = .14, p = .02). Specifically, simple slope tests and Figure 6 show that the relationship between initial cues of uniqueness and perceived creative potential is stronger when perceivers' need for uniqueness is higher (+1 *SD*; simple slope = 3.04, p < .001) than lower (-1 *SD*; simple slope = 2.54, p < .001). Hence, Hypothesis 5a is supported. I then tested the conditional indirect effect of initial cues of uniqueness on perceivers' creative collaboration intention using the bootstrapping method. The results show that, as predicted, the indirect effect via liking for the displayer is indeed stronger when the perceivers' need for uniqueness is higher (indirect effect = .31, 95% CI [.14, .52]) than lower (indirect effect = .17, 95% CI [.04, .34]), but such difference is not statistically significant (moderated mediation index = .10, 95% CI [-.03, .27], including 0). Hypothesis 4b is not supported. In line with my prediction, the indirect effect via perceived creative potential is more positive when the perceivers' need for uniqueness is higher (+1 *SD*; indirect effect = .99, 95% CI [.62, 1.41]) than lower (-1 *SD*; indirect effect = .71, 95% CI [.44, 1.01]), and such difference is significant (moderated mediation index = .21, 95% CI [.01, .45]). Therefore, Hypothesis 5b receives support.



**Figure 4.** Moderating Effect of Perceiver Need for Uniqueness on the Relationship between Initial Cues of Uniqueness and Perceived Creative Potential (Study 2) *Note*. NfU = Need for Uniqueness

Next, I examined the moderating effect of the displayer's status. The MANOVA results show that the interaction between cues of uniqueness and the displayer's status has a significant effect on perceived creative potential ( $F_{(1, 218)} = 5.16$ , p = .02,  $\eta_p^2 = .02$ ) and perceivers' creative collaboration intention ( $F_{(1, 218)} = 4.10$ , p = .04,  $\eta_p^2 = .02$ ). As visualized in Figure 5, among participants in the low displayer status condition, they perceive the displayer who demonstrates cues of uniqueness as having greater creative potential than those who did not present cues of uniqueness (mean difference = 1.87,  $t_{(110)} = 9.12$ , p < .001, d = 1.72), and such difference in perceived creative potential is greater than their counterparts in the high displayer status condition (mean difference = 1.26,  $t_{(108)} = 7.27$ , p < .001, d = 1.37), supporting Hypothesis 7a. However, the moderating effect of displayer status on the relationship between cues of uniqueness and liking of the displayer is not significant ( $F_{(1, 218)} = 1.97$ , *n.s.*). Hypothesis 6a is thus not supported.



**Figure 5.** Effect of Initial Cues of Uniqueness and Displayer Status on Perceived Creative Potential of the Displayer (Study 2) *Note.* Error bars indicate the standard error of the mean.

As presented in Figure 6, participants are more willing to collaborate with the unique colleague on the creative project, and such difference in creative collaboration intention is more pronounced when the displayer has a low status (mean difference = 1.41,  $t_{(110)} = 6.22$ , p < .001, d = 1.18) than when the displayer has a high status (mean difference = .80,  $t_{(108)} = 4.16$ , p < .001, d = 0.78). Bootstrapping results of conditional indirect effects suggest that the indirect effect of initial cues of uniqueness on creative collaboration intention via liking is stronger when the displayer has a higher status (indirect effect = .31, 95% CI [.15, .51]) than when the displayer's status is lower (indirect effect = .21, 95% CI [.06, .40]), but such difference is not statistically significant (moderated mediation index = .10, 95% CI [-.08, .30], including 0). So Hypothesis 6b did not receive strong support. However, the indirect effect via perceived creative potential is

significantly stronger when the displayer's status is lower (indirect effect = 1.12, 95% CI [.72, 1.54]) rather than higher (indirect effect = .71, 95% CI [.45, 1.00]), and the moderated mediation effect is significant (moderated mediation index = -.40, 95% CI [..76, -.10]). The results support Hypothesis 7b.



**Figure 6.** Effect of Initial Cues of Uniqueness and Displayer Status on Perceiver Creative Collaboration Intention (Study 2) *Note.* Error bars indicate the standard error of the mean.

# 4.2.5 Supplementary Analyses

Since I did not find empirical evidence to support the moderating effect of the displayer's status or perceivers' need for uniqueness on the relationship between initial
cues of uniqueness and liking, I conducted supplementary analyses to explore potential explanations. The first potential explanation is the three-way interaction. Using the same control variables and controlling for both two-way interactions, I was not able to find a three-way interaction effect on liking (b = -.23, SE = .15, ns). Another potential explanation is that, since the influences of cues of uniqueness on liking and perceptions of creative potential are not totally independent, when the perception of the displayer's creative potential influences liking, the negative moderating effect of status on the relationship between initial cues of uniqueness and perceived creative potential may neutralize the positive moderating effect of status on liking. Indeed, after accounting for the influence of perceived creative potential on liking, the analysis of covariance (ANCOVA) results show that moderating effect of displayer status on the relationship between initial cues of uniqueness and liking is significant ( $F_{(1, 217)} = 6.10, p = .02, \eta_p^2$ = .03). As plotted in Figure 7, the relationship is positive when the displayer has a higher status, but the relationship is negative when the displayer has a lower status. Furthermore, the indirect effect of initial cues of uniqueness on creative collaboration intention via liking (perceived creative potential serves as a covariate) is positive when the displayer has high status (indirect effect = .18, 95% CI [.04, .33]) but not significant when the displayer's status is low (indirect effect = -.02, 95% CI [-.19, .15]). The moderated mediation effect is also significant (moderated mediation index = .20, 95% CI [.01, .40]), which is aligned as predictions of Hypotheses 6a and 6b.

In terms of the moderating effect of need for uniqueness, it is possible that agreeable people tend to value and appreciate others' cues of uniqueness regardless of their own level of need for uniqueness. In the supplementary analysis, after removing the control variable, perceivers' agreeableness, from the model, the interaction between cues of uniqueness and perceivers' need for uniqueness is significant (b = .29, SE = .12, p = .01), which is in line with the prediction that initial cues of uniqueness could elicit greater liking when the perceiver has a greater need for uniqueness. However, it may not demonstrate the unique effect of need for uniqueness beyond one's agreeableness.





*Note*. Perceived creative potential is included as a covariate. Error bars indicate the standard error of the mean.

# 4.2.6 Study 2 Discussion

This study generally provides support for the hypotheses. Specifically, it

demonstrates that two mechanisms, perceivers' liking (for the displayer) and perceived

creative potential, explain the influence of cues of uniqueness on perceivers' creative collaboration intention. My supplementary analyses also reveal that the two mechanisms are not independent but may interact with each other. After accounting for the influence of perceived creative potential on liking, the relationship between initial cues of uniqueness and liking is contingent on the displayer's status—perceivers like an individual who displays cues of uniqueness better only when the individual also has a high competence-based status. Moreover, the signaling effect of cues of uniqueness is stronger when the displayer has a lower status. Overall, the influence of initial cues of uniqueness on perceivers' creative collaboration intention is stronger for displayers of low status. Furthermore, the perceiver's need for uniqueness also serves as a critical contingent factor. Indeed, the positive effects of cues of uniqueness on liking and perceived creative potential are augmented when the perceiver has a higher level of need for uniqueness.

### 4.3 Study 3: Moderating Effect of Organizational Cultural Tightness-Looseness

# 4.3.1 Sample and Procedure

I recruited 230 full-time working adults from the online panel Prolific. Based on the pre-set rules to identify insufficient effort responses to ensure the data quality (Huang et al., 2015), three respondents who failed two or all three attention checks were excluded from the analyses, leaving a sample of 227 participants. The average age of the participants was 36.78 (SD = 10.46). Among the participants, 111 (48.9%) were men, 110 (48.5%) were women, and 6 (2.6%) of them indicated a non-binary gender. In terms of educational level, 9.3% of the participants had high-school or equivalent level education;

21.1% had an associate degree or some college education without a degree; 48.9% had a Bachelor's degree; 16.3% had a Master's degree, and 4.4% had a Doctoral degree.

This study used a 2 (*organizational culture*: tight vs. loose)  $\times$  2 (*initial cues*: unique vs. non-unique) between-subjects design, and participants were randomly assigned to one of the four conditions. The same scenario used in Study 2 was also used in this study. Specifically, participants were instructed to imagine themselves as a consultant working for a management consulting company and then read descriptions of the company as the manipulation of organizational cultural tightness-looseness. The participants then read about a new colleague who either demonstrated cues of uniqueness or not at the welcome meeting as the manipulation of initial cues of uniqueness. The same creative collaboration setting as described in Study 2 was then introduced, and participants reported the extent to which they were willing to collaborate with the new colleague on the creative project. Finally, participants responded to questions about manipulation checks and control variables before they were debriefed and thanked.

#### 4.3.2 Manipulations and Measures

#### Cultural Tightness-Looseness Manipulation

The manipulation of organizational cultural tightness-looseness is constructed based on the scale of cultural tightness-looseness (Gelfand et al., 2011) as well as experimental studies manipulating cultural tightness-looseness (Chen et al., 2021; Jackson et al., 2021). In the tight culture condition, participants read a short paragraph attributing their organization's success to its strong norms and well-enforced rules of conduct. For example, employees in the company have well-defined job duties and specific benchmarks for performance. The company also has a strict dress code and emphasizes punctuality to ensure professionalism and efficiency. There are clear expectations of appropriate behaviors in most situations, and employees who violate these norms will face punishments. In the loose culture condition, the company's success is attributed to its flexibility and freedom. In this company, employees' job duties are flexible, and their performance standards are open for discussion to ensure adaptability. The company has no dress code and provides flexible work arrangements, and employees have plenty of freedom to decide how they want to behave in most situations. The sixitem cultural tightness scale (Gelfand et al., 2011) was utilized as the manipulation check (1 = *strongly disagree*, 7 = *strongly agree*; Cronbach's  $\alpha$  = .96). A sample item was: "There are many social norms that members are supposed to abide by at Artling." According to manipulation check results, the manipulation was effective as participants in the tight culture condition ( $M_{tight}$  = 6.18, SD = .72) reported significantly higher cultural tightness (mean difference = 3.95,  $t_{(225)}$  = 35.45, p < .001) than their counterparts in the loose culture condition ( $M_{loose}$  = 2.23, SD = .95).

#### Cues of Uniqueness Manipulation

Initial cues of uniqueness were manipulated in the same way as described in Study 2. Participants also assessed how they think the new colleague's name/clothes/knowledge domain were *uncommon*, *distinctive*, *unusual*, and *rare* (1 = *strongly disagree* to 7 = *strongly agree*) as a manipulation check (Cronbach's  $\alpha$  = .97). The manipulation was effective ( $M_{unique}$  = 5.65, SD = 1.03;  $M_{nonunique}$  = 2.03, SD = .94; mean difference = 3.62;  $t_{(225)}$  = 27.54, p < .001).

# <u>Measures</u>

As described in Study 2, liking ( $\alpha = .92$ ), perceived creative potential ( $\alpha = .96$ ), creative collaboration intention ( $\alpha = .97$ ), and need for uniqueness ( $\alpha = .89$ ) were measured using the same scales used in Study 2 and showed satisfactory reliability. I also controlled for participants' age, gender, education, creative self-efficacy ( $\alpha = .92$ ), and agreeableness ( $\alpha = .90$ ) in the analyses.

# 4.3.3 Results

I conducted a multivariate analysis of variance (MANOVA) to investigate the influence of initial cues of uniqueness as well as the interaction between initial cues of uniqueness and cultural tightness-looseness on liking, perceived creative potential, and perceivers' creative collaboration intention. As presented in Figure 8, the results suggest a positive relationship between initial cues of uniqueness and liking ( $M_{unique} = 5.43$ , SE = .08;  $M_{nonunique} = 4.76$ , SE = .08;  $F_{(1, 223)} = 33.54$ , p < .001,  $\eta_p^2 = .13$ ), perceived creative potential ( $M_{unique} = 5.82$ , SE = .10;  $M_{nonunique} = 3.78$ , SE = .10;  $F_{(1, 223)} = 195.27$ , p < .001,  $\eta_p^2 = .47$ ), and creative collaboration intention ( $M_{unique} = 6.13$ , SE = .11;  $M_{nonunique} = 4.41$ , SE = .11;  $F_{(1, 223)} = 114.69$ , p < .001,  $\eta_p^2 = .34$ ). Hypothesis 1 is supported.



**Figure 8**. Effect of Initial Cues of Uniqueness on Perceivers' Liking, Perceived Creative Potential, and Creative Collaboration Intention

Furthermore, results of multiple linear regression show that cues of uniqueness is positively related to creative collaboration intention (b = 1.61, SE = .16, p < .001). When both liking (b = .49, SE = .09, p < .001) and perceived creative potential (b = .43, SE= .06, p < .001) enter the model, they both are positively associated with creative collaboration intention. I then tested the indirect effects of initial cues of uniqueness on creative collaboration intention with the bootstrapping method using the PROCESS macro (Hayes, 2018). The results indicate that the indirect effects of initial cues of uniqueness on creative collaboration intention mediated by liking towards the displayer (indirect effect = .25, 95% CI [.13, .41]) and perceived displayer's creative potential (indirect effect = .85, 95% CI [.51, 1.23]) are both significant, supporting Hypotheses 2 and 3. Then I examined the moderating effect of perceivers' need for uniqueness.

Specifically, the moderating effect of perceivers' need for uniqueness on the relationship between cues of uniqueness and perceived creative potential is significant (b = .34, SE= .15, p = .025). Figure 9 and simple slope tests (Dawson, 2014) show that, consistent with results of Study 2, the positive relationship between initial cues of uniqueness and perceived creative potential is stronger when perceivers have a higher level of need for uniqueness (simple slope = 3.32, p < .001) than when perceivers' need for uniqueness is lower (simple slope = 2.74, p < .001), in support of Hypothesis 5a.



**Figure 9.** Moderating Effect of Perceiver Need for Uniqueness on the Relationship between Initial Cues of Uniqueness and Perceived Creative Potential (Study 2)

Bootstrapping results indicate that the indirect effect of initial cues of uniqueness on creative collaboration intention via perceived creative potential is stronger when perceivers' need for uniqueness is higher (indirect effect = 1.03, 95% CI [.59, 1.52]) than when need for uniqueness is lower (indirect effect = .72, 95% CI [.42, 1.06]). The moderated mediation effect is significant (moderated mediation index = .18, 95% CI [.02, .35]), in support of Hypothesis 5b. However, the moderating effect of perceivers' need for uniqueness on the relationship between initial cues of uniqueness and liking is not statistically significant (b = .18, SE = .11, ns). While the indirect effect of initial cues of uniqueness on creative collaboration intention via liking is stronger when need for uniqueness is higher (indirect effect = .36, 95% [.16, .62]) rather than lower (indirect effect = .19, 95% [.05, .36]), the moderated mediation effect is not significant (moderated mediation index = .10, 95% CI [-.04, .25], including 0). Hence, Hypotheses 4a and 4b did not receive support.

Furthermore, the interaction between cultural tightness and initial cues of uniqueness did not have significant effects on liking ( $F_{(1, 223)} = .02, ns$ ), perceived creative potential ( $F_{(1, 223)} = .57, ns$ ), or creative collaboration intention ( $F_{(1, 223)} = .01, ns$ ). Therefore, the moderating effect of cultural tightness-looseness are not significant, and Hypotheses 8a and 9a are not supported.

#### 4.3.4 Study 3 Discussion

Study 3 first replicated the findings of Study 2. However, I did not find empirical support for the moderating effect of cultural tightness-looseness. From a theoretical perspective, it is possible that as cultural tightness-looseness has a mixed effect on the influence of initial cues of uniqueness on liking and perceived creative potential, and the

two mechanisms may interact with each other, the overall moderating effect of cultural tightness-looseness thus might be canceled out. From an empirical perspective, the influence of cultural tightness-looseness on mental associations between uniqueness and other concepts and thus perceivers' affective reactions and inferences may take time to unfold and not be able to manifest in a vignette-based experiment. Therefore, in Study 4, I used archival data to examine the relationship between initial cues of uniqueness and creative collaboration intention, as well as the moderating effect of cultural tightness-looseness in real-world, wherein people's mental associations and cognitive thinking patterns are more substantially influenced by the culture in the social environment.

#### 4.4 Study 4: Name Uniqueness and Creative Collaborations of Scientists

### 4.4.1 Data and Sample

Since names are among the first piece of information exchanged in almost every professional interaction, and it carries important identity meanings, it serves as an important initial informational cue that can demonstrate an individual's uniqueness (Y. Kang et al., 2021; Kulig, 2013). In this study, I examine how the relationship between initial cues of uniqueness and creative collaboration intention manifests in a real-world setting by focusing on name uniqueness and scientists' likelihood of building creative collaborations. The sample consists of 46,010 American scientists who are among the most-cited 100,000 scientists worldwide. The dataset was retrieved from a publicly available database of 100,000 most-cited scientists across 21 scientific fields. This database was constructed by Ioannidis and colleagues (2019), who used the Scopus

database that covers about 7 million scientists to rank scientists across scientific fields based on a composite indicator of citation metrics (Ioannidis et al., 2016).

This dataset is suitable for examining the focal research questions for the following reasons. First, scientific research is an appropriate setting for studying creative collaborations. This is not only because collaborations are important for the generation of original knowledge, but it is also common for scientists to have a great deal of autonomy in seeking collaborators and building collaborative relationships (Leahey, 2016). The discretionary collaborations among scientists reflect their volitions and creative collaboration intention to a great extent. Second, focusing on the world's most prominent scientists, this study will be able to account for the significant impact of one's actual competence on the likelihood of building creative collaborations as all the scientists in the sample are among the most knowledgeable, competent, and influential experts in each field. Moreover, as common and uncommon names vary a lot across countries due to cultural factors, I only focus on scientists residing in the U.S. (indicated by their affiliations) and consider their name uniqueness in the U.S. society.

### 4.4.2 Measures

#### Scientists' Name Uniqueness

Following the practices of previous studies on name uniqueness (e.g., Kalist & Lee, 2009; Kang et al., 2021), I measured name uniqueness using the frequency of a scientist's forename in the U.S. population between 1919 to 2019, as recorded in the U.S. Social Security Administration (SSA) national database. The SSA database recorded the frequency of given names by gender in Social Security applications in the U.S. and thus comprehensively covers the population in the U.S. Literature on name uniqueness mainly

focuses on the uniqueness of individuals' given names because people from diverse cultural backgrounds consist of the U.S. population, whose family names are expected to be different. But in terms of first names, there are prevailing naming norms and general knowledge regarding common or uncommon names (Kang et al., 2021). In this study, I focus on first names used in professional settings (i.e., first names that appear in publications), which are known by colleagues and thus may influence other's willingness to collaborate with the name bearer.

I collected the gender-specific frequency of each scientist's given name as the measure of name commonness. Since the dataset does not include information regarding scientists' gender, I first inferred the gender of each scientist based on the gender distribution of their given names in the SSA database using the R package "gender" (Blevins & Mullen, 2015) and corroborated the inferred gender by examining the gender distribution of names between 1919 to 2019 in the SSA database (Jensen et al., 2018; Manjunath et al., 2021). For a given name (e.g., Lisa), if more than 95% of the time, the name bearers are of a specific gender (e.g., female), then I categorized the scientist with the name as this gender (e.g., female) and calculated the frequency of the name in the corresponding gender group (Jensen et al., 2018). If a name could not be assigned to one gender group, which means if the percentage of a name's dominant gender was below 95% or if a given name was too rare to infer its gender, I categorized it as unknown and calculated the frequency of it as the average across two gender groups. I then used logarithms to transform name frequency to alleviate the skewness issue (Cohen et al., 2013). Since the higher frequency indicates a lower uniqueness, I used the negative value

of name frequency as the measure of name uniqueness so that a higher score represents higher name uniqueness (Kang et al., 2021).

### Creative Collaboration Likelihood

Other people's creative collaborations can be reflected by how likely a scientist has co-authored publications. Specifically, the more people are willing to engage in creative collaborations with a scientist, the more likely the scientists have publications that are co-authored with others. In order to account for the factor that scientists with shorter tenure in the field have less time to accumulate publications, instead of calculating the number of scientists' co-authored publications, I measure the likelihood of creative collaboration as the percentage of scientists' co-authored publications in their total publications. Specifically, as the most-cited scientists dataset provided the number of each scientist's single-authored papers as well as the total number of publications from 1960 to 2017, I calculate the creative collaboration likelihood =  $(1 - \frac{Number of single-authored publications}{Total number of publications}) * 100$ 

A higher score thus indicates a scientist's higher likelihood of creative collaborations.

Then, to examine the robustness of the findings, I conducted supplementary analyses using different measures of others' creative collaboration intention and a subset of the dataset to conduct focused analyses. The detailed descriptions of the alternative measures are provided in the "Supplementary Analyses" section.

#### Displayer Competence-Based Status

Since status reflects the extent to which one is respected by others (Magee & Galinsky, 2008), a scientist's non-self-cited citations are a good indicator of the scientist's status based on his or her scholarly work. Therefore, I measured scientists'

status using the composite citation index C after excluding self-citations (Ioannidis et al., 2016). The composite citation index incorporated six major citation and publication indicators (self-citations excluded), including the total number of citations, Hirsch H Index, and Schreiber's Hm index, and citations received for solo-, first-, and last-author papers. It provides a rather comprehensive indicator of scientists' academic impact and thus status. To account for the differences in the number of citations across disciplines, I centered the composite citation index for each scientist at the mean of the field so that the indicator reflects each scientist's relative status in their corresponding fields.

### Cultural Tightness

To test how the historical change in cultural tightness-looseness may influence the relationship between scientists' name uniqueness and their likelihood of building creative collaborations, I use data on cultural tightness-looseness over time in the U.S. society from the dataset published by Jackson and colleagues (2019). In their study, Jackson and colleagues (2019) measured cultural tightness-looseness by examining the appearance of certain words that indicate a tight culture (e.g., restrain, comply) or a loose culture (e.g., diverse, openness) in books published in the U.S. each year using the Google Books corpus, which includes more than 200 billion books. By calculating the standardized tightness words frequency minus looseness words frequency value, a higher score indicated a tighter culture. As the booming of e-books and self-publishing after 2000 significantly influenced the frequency of certain words in the Google Books corpus, which may confound with cultural change, cultural tightness-looseness after 2000 was estimated using autoregressive moving-average models (Jackson et al., 2019). This linguistic indicator of cultural tightness showed good convergent validity as it correlated

with other measures of cultural tightness such as religiosity in the U.S., the number of laws passed each year, and the occurrence of profanity in American TV shows and movies over time (Jackson et al., 2019). It is thus a valid and reliable indicator of the societal cultural tightness-looseness over time in the US. In this study, the average score of cultural tightness across each scientist's career (from the year of the scientist's first publication to the most recent publication) is calculated to reflect the overall cultural tightness level across a scientist's career.

### Control Variables

As females are underrepresented in science, which can potentially influence their likelihood to build collaborations with others in the fields, I control for the scientists' gender (as indicated by their names). Specifically, female scientists were coded as 1, and the others (male or gender unknown according to the name) were coded as 0. Since individuals' race/ethnicity may influence their name uncommonness as well as other's reactions to their names (Kang et al., 2016; Zhao & Biernat, 2017), I controlled for scientists' race/ethnicity inferred from their surnames using a Bayesian predictor algorithm in the R package "wru" (Imai & Khanna, 2016), which has been validated and widely used (e.g., Hepburn et al., 2020; Hofstra et al., 2020; Labgold et al., 2020). This algorithm infers individuals' race/ethnicity based on the racial distribution of surnames in the U.S. Census Bureau database. The U.S. Census Bureau released the racial distributions of more than 150,000 surnames, which covered more than 90% of the U.S. population. Using this database and the Census's Spanish Surname List, the "wru" package uses Bayesian methods to provide the race/ethnicity probabilities of a surname in five categories: Asian/Pacific, Black, Hispanic/Latino, White, and Other. In this study, I

used the category with the highest probability as each scientist's inferred race/ethnicity. I then coded those who were most likely to be White as 0 and the others (i.e., Non-White) as 1. Scientists' tenure in the field (calculated by their most recent publication year minus the first publication year) is also controlled. Furthermore, the average percentage of co-authored publications for scientists in each field is also calculated and controlled for at the field level to account for the collaborative norms in each field.

# 4.4.3 Data Analysis Strategy

I conducted multilevel modeling using R to test the hypotheses. Specifically, scientists were nested in 21 fields (Level 2), and scientists' likelihood of creative collaborations was allowed to vary across fields. The average percentage of co-authored publications for each field is controlled for at Level 2.

# 4.4.4 Results

Means and standard deviations of all the individual-level variables as well as their correlations are presented in Table 1.

	Variable	М	SD	1	2	3	4	5	6
1	Gender	0.14	0.34						
2	Race	0.12	0.32	-0.04					
3	Tenure	34.8	9.99	-0.11	-0.17				
4	Name Uniqueness	-11.2	4.64	-0.06	0.39	-0.10			
5	Creative Collaboration Likelihood	89.9	11.9	0.03	0.08	-0.11	0.05		
6	Status in the Field	0.00	0.31	-0.06	-0.04	0.21	-0.05	-0.02	
7	Cultural Tightness	-4.25	0.51	-0.12	-0.16	0.74	-0.09	-0.19	0.09

**Table 1.** Means, Standard Deviations, and Correlations of Variables (Study 4)

*Note*. N = 46010. All correlations are significant at p < .001 level. Status in the field is calculated as the composite citation index centered at the mean of each field. Gender and race are dummy coded: Gender (1 = Female, 0 = Male/Unknown), Race (1 = Non-white, 0 = White).

I examined the main effect of name uniqueness as well as the moderating effects of status and cultural tightness and summarized the results in Table 2. In line with my predictions, scientists' creative collaboration likelihood is positively related to their name uniqueness ( $\gamma = .03$ , p = .01) after controlling for gender, race, tenure, status, and collaborative norms in the field, providing support for the Hypothesis 1. According to Model 2 in Table 2, the joint effect of name uniqueness and status on creative collaboration likelihood is not significant ( $\gamma = ..05$ , *n.s.*). Results of Model 3 in Table 2 suggest that the interaction between name uniqueness and cultural tightness is negatively associated with creative collaboration likelihood ( $\gamma = ..03$ , p = .002). As plotted in Figure 10, the positive relationship between name uniqueness and creative collaborations likelihood is less positive when the societal culture is tighter (+1*SD*) rather than looser (-1*SD*).

	Model 1			N	Iodel 2		Model 3		
Variables	γ	SE	t	γ	SE	t	γ	SE	t
Intercept	-5.14***	1.55	-3.32	-5.15***	1.55	-3.32	-5.13***	1.55	-3.31
Control									
Individual level									
Gender	.76***	.15	5.24	.77***	.15	5.26	.78***	.15	5.37
Race	1.30***	.17	7.80	1.29***	.17	7.78	1.22***	.17	7.27
Tenure	.08***	.01	10.38	.08***	.01	10.38	.08***	.01	10.44
Status in the field	38*	.16	-2.35	93*	.43	-2.15	38*	.16	-2.35
Cultural Tightness	-3.32***	.07	-45.21	-3.32***	.07	-45.20	-5.36***	.20	-26.33
Field level									
Average collaboration rate	1.03***	.02	58.52	1.03***	.02	58.56	1.03***	.02	58.38
Predictor									
Name uniqueness (NU)	.03**	.01	2.58	.03*	.01	2.50	.03**	.01	2.54
Interactions									
NU × status				05	.04	-1.36			
$\underline{NU \times cultural tightness}$							03**	.01	-3.17

**Table 2.** Two-Level Mixed Effect Models Predicting Creative Collaboration Likelihood (Study 4)

*Note*. N = 46010 at the individual level; N = 21 at the field level. For gender: 1 = female, 0 = male/unknown. For race: 1 = non-white, 0 = white. Status in the field is calculated as the composite citation index centered at the mean of each field. Cultural tightness is standardized.

\* p < .05, \*\* p < .01, \*\*\* p < .001.



**Figure 10**. Effect of Name Uniqueness and Cultural Tightness on Creative Collaboration Likelihood

### 4.4.5 Supplementary Analyses

To further examine the robustness of the findings, I conducted several sets of supplementary analyses using different measures of name uniqueness and creative collaboration likelihood and conducted the analyses on a subset of the dataset focusing on scholars in arts and social sciences.

#### Alternative Measure of Name Uniqueness

Research suggests that people's understanding of name uniqueness may vary over time (Kang et al., 2021; Twenge et al., 2010; Zweigenhaft, 1983). So people's reactions to the name and perceptions of the name uniqueness might be influenced by the period of time in which they live. In the primary analyses, I used the data of name frequency from 1919 to 2019. In the supplementary analysis, I use a specified time range for each scientist to measure name uniqueness in the period they live. As the dataset does not include information about scientists' age, I used the year of their first publication to infer a time they might have been born and estimate a period to measure their name uniqueness since then. Specifically, a prior study that used the dissertation completing year to infer historians birth year assumed that most historians completed their degree between 25 to 45 years old (Blevins & Mullen, 2015). Data from National Center for Science and Engineering Statistics (2018, 2021) suggest that since 1957, the median age at which people earn a doctoral degree has been between 31 to 34 years old. Accordingly, assuming that the age at which scientists had their first publication is likely under 45 years old, I calculated each scientist's name uniqueness within 45 years before their first publication. Using this alternative measure of name uniqueness, I found consistent results as in the primary analyses (displayed in Table 3). Specifically, name uniqueness is

positively related to creative collaboration likelihood ( $\gamma = .03, p = .02$ ). The moderating effect of scientists' status is not significant ( $\gamma = -.07, p = .06$ ), and the moderating effect of cultural tightness is significant ( $\gamma = -.03, p = .002$ ).

## Alternative Measure of Creative Collaboration Intention

The primary study measures the likelihood of building creative collaborations using the percentage of co-authored publications. However, this measure can also be determined by the scientist's preferences for collaborative or independent work beyond others' creative collaboration intention. Therefore, in the supplementary analyses, I used another measure, the percentage of non-first/last-author publications, to assess others' creative collaboration intention with the focal scientist. In many disciplines, being the first or the last author means one is the principal investigator of a project, thus initiating the creative collaboration (Ioannidis et al., 2016). Therefore, the percentage of nonfirst/last-author publications in one's coauthored publications measures the extent to which other people are willing to approach the focal scientist for creative collaborations. Supplementary analyses using this alternative measure of others' creative collaboration intention yield results opposite to the primary analyses. Results of Models 4 to 6 in Table 3 show that name uniqueness is negatively related to others' creative collaboration intention ( $\gamma = -.11, p < .001$ ). The negative relationship is less pronounced for scientists of lower status ( $\gamma = -.31$ , p < .001) and when the culture in the social environment is looser ( $\gamma = .07, p < .001$ ).

v	Alternative n	ieasure of name	uniqueness <sup>a</sup>	Alternative measure of creative collaboration intention <sup>b</sup>			
Variables	Model 1	Model 2	Model 3	Model 4	Model 5	Model 6	
Intercept	3.75(1.23)**	3.74(1.22)**	-5.19(1.55)***	6.40(8.46)	6.34(8.45)	-9.73(8.80)	
Control							
Individual level							
Gender	1.19(0.15)***	1.20(0.15)***	0.78(0.15)***	1.22(0.22)***	1.25(0.22)***	0.40(0.22) <sup>†</sup>	
Race	1.66(0.17)***	1.66(0.17)***	1.24(0.17)***	-1.05(0.25)***	-1.07(0.25)***	-1.54(0.25)***	
Tenure	-0.16(0.01)***	-0.16(0.01)***	0.08(0.01)***	-0.37(0.01)***	-0.37(0.01)***	0.07(0.01)***	
Status in the field	0.34(0.16)*	-0.38(0.41)	-0.38(0.16)*	-0.43(0.25) <sup>†</sup>	-3.93(0.66)***	-1.77(0.24)***	
Cultural Tightness			-3.64(0.13)***			-5.36(0.20)***	
Field level							
Average collaboration							
rate	1.02(0.01)***	1.02(0.01)***	1.02(0.02)***	0.44(0.10)***	0.44(0.10)***	0.45(0.11)***	
Predictor							
Name uniqueness (NU)	0.03(0.01)*	0.03(0.01)*	0.03(0.01)*	-0.11(0.02)***	-0.12(0.02)***	-0.11(0.02)***	
Interactions							
$NU \times status$		-0.07(0.03)†			-0.31(0.05)***		
NU × cultural tightness		-0.03(0.01)**			0.07(0.02)***		

 Table 3. Mixed Effect Models of Study 4 Supplementary Analyses

*Note*. N = 46010 at the individual level; N = 21 at the field level. For gender: 1 = female, 0 = male/unknown. For race: 1 = non-white, 0 = white. Status in the field is calculated as the composite citation index centered at the mean of each field. Cultural tightness is standardized.

<sup>a</sup> Predictor is time-specified name uniqueness.

<sup>b</sup> Dependent variable is the percentage of non-first/last-author publications. <sup>†</sup> p < .10, \* p < .05, \*\* p < .01, \*\*\* p < .001.

### Data of Scholars in Arts and Social Sciences

Due to the nature of research in science, technology, and engineering, it is almost necessary to have many collaborators on a research project (Leahey, 2016; Wuchty et al., 2007). Indeed, the dataset shows that, on average, more than 90% of the publications of the scientists in these fields are co-authored with others, so co-authored publication percentage in these fields may not necessarily be representative of scientists' intention to collaborate. Therefore, in supplementary analyses, I retrieved a subset of the database (*N* = 4038) focusing on scientists in arts and social sciences who may have more discretions and variances in choosing collaborators. Fields included in this supplementary analysis are Communication and Textual Studies, Economics and Business, General Arts and Humanities, Historical Studies, Philosophy and Theology, Psychology and Cognitive Sciences, and General Social Sciences.

Furthermore, a scientist's co-authored publication percentage may be largely influenced by the norms of different disciplines beyond other people's intentional choices of collaborators. To account for this limitation, I collected data on each scholar's *number of distinct collaborators* across all publications as another measure of others' willingness to collaborate with the focal scholar. Specifically, I collaborated with a computer scientist to retrieve publication profiles of the scholars in my dataset using the Application Programming Interface (API) of Scopus (https://www.elsevier.com/solutions/scopus), one of the world's major abstract and citation databases that covers more than 17.6 million author profiles (Scopus, 2022). Using scholars' first and last names, affiliations, and primary field of publications as keywords, I was able to identify each scholar's author profile and collected the number of their distinct coauthors across all publication records in Scopus. However, due to name ambiguation issues (e.g., the same author's name was recorded in different formats and thus created different profiles, or different authors share the same names) as well as the inconsistency between the discipline categories in Scopus database and the scientist dataset published by Ioannidis and colleagues (2019), I was able to retrieve 3407 scholars' profiles after disambiguation, leaving a final sample size N = 3407 for analyses. Apart from this new measure of other people's creative collaboration intention, the same measures and control variables used in the main study were also used in the supplementary analyses. For scholars whose gender was not able to be inferred from the name, I manually searched for each scholar's personal website, Wikipedia, or department webpage and news and coded their gender based on their photos and pronouns used in online biographies. Descriptive statistics and correlations of variables of this focused dataset are presented in Table 4.

-				0 1		· · ·		~	· /	
	Variable	М	SD	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
1	Gender	.24	.43							
2	Race	.07	.25	.02						
3	Tenure	32.70	10.30	12**	13**					
4	Name Uniqueness	-12.20	3.52	.08**	.33**	13**				
5	Creative Collaboration Likelihood	77.90	20.20	.10**	.02	07**	03			
6	Number of Coauthors	141.00	219.00	.02	04*	.01	06**	.28**		
7	Status in the Field	0.00	.28	08**	02	.20**	02	01	.16**	
8	Cultural Tightness	-4.37	.49	10**	13**	.84**	10**	12**	04*	.11**

**Table 4.** Means, Standard Deviations, and Correlations Among Study Variables (Study 4 Supplementary Analysis)

*Note.* N = 3407. Status in the field is calculated as the composite citation index centered at the mean of each field. Gender and race are dummy coded: gender (1 = female, 0 = male/unknown), race (1 = non-white, 0 = white). \* p < .05, \*\* p < .01

Since scholars are nested in only 7 different fields and these fields all belong to arts and social sciences, I used multiple linear regression for analyses. The average number of distinct coauthors and the average percentage of co-authored publications of each discipline were controlled to account for the differences in norms of collaborations among fields. As presented in Table 5, contrary to the finding in the main study, scholars' name uniqueness is negatively related to their number of collaborators (b = -2.35, p = .03). Furthermore, the moderating effects of neither status (b = 5.59, ns) nor cultural tightness (b = -1.49, ns) are significant. When using the percentage of co-authored publications as the outcome, the results are quite consistent. Specifically, name uniqueness is negatively related to likelihood of creative collaborations (b = -.30, p = .001). The interactions between name uniqueness and status (b = .28, ns) and cultural tightness (b = -.09, ns) are not significant.

### 4.4.6 Study 4 Discussion

In this study, I used large-scale archival data of the world's most-cited scientists to examine the relationship between an initial cue of uniqueness (i.e., name uniqueness) and people's likelihood of building creative collaborations with others. Mixed findings emerge from the study and supplementary analyses using a subset of the data. First, using the entire dataset and the percentage of co-authored publications as the measure of creative collaboration likelihood, I found support for most of the hypotheses. Specifically, scientists' name uniqueness is positively related to their likelihood of creative collaborations, and this relationship is contingent on societal cultural tightnesslooseness over their careers. The positive relationship is stronger when the culture in the social environment is looser. I did not find significant results of the moderating effect of scientists' status in the field.

However, when using the percentage of non-first or last authored papers as the indicator of other people's willingness to collaborate with the focal individual, the results demonstrate a different picture: scientists' name uniqueness is negatively related to other people's creative collaboration intention. The negative relationship is less pronounced when the scientist is of relatively lower status and the societal culture is looser. When using a subset of the dataset focusing on scientists in arts and social sciences and measuring people's creative collaboration intention as a scientist's number of distinct collaborators, I also found a negative relationship between name uniqueness and scientists' number of distinct collaborators.

The inconsistent findings might be attributed to the nature of the archival data and norms of collaborations across disciplines. First, the archival data could only capture successful creative collaborations (i.e., published work) among scientists but not aborted collaborations. As people may put different efforts into projects that they initiate and act as the principal investigator or not, it can influence the success rate of these projects, which may explain the discrepancy between the main study and supplementary analyses that use different measures of creative collaboration likelihood. Further, since there are different norms and restrictions regarding creative collaborations across fields, it could result in divergent findings using the entire dataset versus data of scholars in specific fields. Therefore, future studies that focus on one specific field and investigate a wider range of researchers, or studies using other methods such as field surveys, would be

valuable to resolve the discrepancies and further unravel the relationship between initial cues of uniqueness and creative collaboration intention in real-world settings.

	DV: N	umber of distinct cod	authors	DV: Percentage of coauthored publications			
Variables	Model 1	Model 2	Model 3	Model 4	Model 5	Model 6	
Intercept	35.33 (18.45)*	37.78 (18.45)*	72.22(25.50)**	3.35(3.88)	3.30(3.88)	-11.10(4.15)**	
Control							
Gender	-10.65(8.50)	-10.36(8.50)	-12.48(8.50)	2.41(0.74)**	2.42(0.75)**	2.18(0.74)**	
Race	-10.17(15.13)	-8.57(15.16)	-12.54(15.13)	3.03(1.33)*	3.11(1.33)*	2.39(1.33)†	
Tenure	-2.37(0.37)***	-2.37(0.37)***	0.96(0.65)	-0.31(0.03)***	-0.31(0.03)***	0.11(0.06) <sup>†</sup>	
Status in the field	136.66(12.83)***	205.27(47.44)***	128.39(12.83)***	1.67(1.12)	5.13(4.16)	0.64(1.12)	
Field average coauthor number	1.11(0.06)***	1.11(0.06)***	1.14(0.06)***	0.01(0.01)	0.01(0.01)	0.01(0.01) <sup>†</sup>	
Field average collaboration rate				1.01(0.05)***	1.01(0.05)***	1.02(0.05)***	
Cultural Tightness			-36.04(13.33)**			-6.25(1.16)***	
Predictor							
Name uniqueness (NU)	-2.34(1.08)*	-2.31(1.08)*	$-2.07(1.08)^{\dagger}$	-0.30(0.09)**	-0.30(0.09)**	-0.29(0.09)**	
Interactions							
$NU \times status$		5.58(3.71)			0.28(0.33)		
$NU \times cultural tightness$			0.42(0.98)			-0.09(0.09)	
Adjusted $R^2$	0.11	0.11	0.12	0.19	0.19	0.21	

**Table 5.** Multiple Linear Regression Results of Data of Scientists in Arts and Social Sciences (Study 4, Supplementary Analysis)

*Note*. N = 3407. Status in the field is calculated as the composite citation index centered at the mean of each field. Gender and race are dummy coded: gender (1 = female, 0 = male/unknown), race (1 = non-white, 0 = white). Cultural tightness is standardized. <sup>†</sup> p < .10, \*p < .05, \*\*p < .01, \*\*\*p < .001.

### **CHAPTER 5 GENERAL DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSION**

Generating novel and useful ideas requires different perspectives but individuals generally have the tendency to connect with similar and familiar others and avoid those who seem unique (Chua & Jin, 2020; McPherson et al., 2001; Montoya et al., 2008; Reis et al., 2011). To unpack this intriguing dilemma, across four studies using experiments and archival data, this research revealed a complex picture of the relationship between initial cues of uniqueness and creative collaboration intention. Using randomized experimental designs, I first investigated whether informational cues demonstrating individuals' features that are different from other people in initial interactions could influence perceivers' tendency to approach them for creative collaborations. Specifically, I found that compared to collaborations on tasks that did not require creativity, individuals are more likely to gravitate towards those who demonstrate cues of uniqueness (e.g., names, appearance style, knowledge domain) for creative collaborations, even though these cues may not be indicative of one's actual ability to be creative. These results corroborate the classic social cognition perspectives favoring similar and familiar others but also reveal nuanced implications of cues of uniqueness for creative collaborations.

Then, the two vignette experiments (Studies 2 and 3) further show that initial cues of uniqueness increase perceivers' creative collaboration intention through liking for the displayer and facilitating inferences of the displayer's creative potential. These results provide support for the hypotheses based on the associative-propositional evaluation model and signaling theory. They suggest that initial cues of uniqueness can activate positive associations and thus give rise to favorable affective gut reactions to the

displayer. They also serve as signals, leading to inferences of the displayer's potential to think creatively. Furthermore, I found that the effects of initial cues of uniqueness are contingent on the displayer's and the perceiver's attributes—the perceiver's need for uniqueness and the displayer's status. I found that the signaling effect of cues of uniqueness is stronger when the perceiver has a higher level of need for uniqueness or when the displayer has a lower status. Furthermore, after accounting for the influence of perceived creative potential on liking, perceivers tend to like the individual displaying cues of uniqueness better if the perceiver has a greater need for uniqueness or when the displayer has a higher competence-based status.

I examined how the nuanced influence of initial cues of uniqueness on creative collaborations unfold in the real world using the archival data of scientists' name uniqueness and creative collaborations on research projects. Specifically, the primary and supplementary analyses of this study yielded mixed findings. When using co-authored publication percentage as the measure of creative collaboration likelihood, I found a positive relationship between name uniqueness and creative collaboration likelihood. The relationship is strengthened when one has a relatively lower status or lives in a time when the societal culture is looser. When using the percentage of non-first/last-author publications or the number of distinct coauthors as the measure of creative collaboration likelihood the relationship between name uniqueness and creative collaboration likelihood to be negative. Together, these findings provide theoretical and practical implications.

#### **5.1 Theoretical Implications**

The findings of this study provide valuable implications for literatures on the social side of creativity and social perceptions. First, it advances the social side of creativity literature by extending its horizon to the onset of creative collaborations. Indeed, as creativity features challenging the existing procedures and current solutions to problems and may even emerge from serendipities, creative collaborations are more uncertain and less structured than typical workflow collaborations (Li et al., 2018). Employees may have more discretions regarding with whom and how they want to collaborate with others to generate novel and useful ideas. As people's choice of collaborators and the extent to which they are willing to collaborate for creativity may directly influence what kinds of perspectives are likely to be integrated and the quality of collaboration, it is essential to investigate what factors may facilitate the start of creative collaborations. Any social relationships and processes start from and can be influenced by initial interactions. Focusing on artificial cues that are constructed by individuals and their sociocultural environment and widely exchanged in almost every initial professional interaction (i.e., names, appearance styles, knowledge domains), this study reveals that initial cues demonstrating one's uniqueness influence others' intentions to collaborate with them for creativity. It thus identifies cues of uniqueness as a factor that meaningfully influence whom people are likely to approach for creative collaborations.

Furthermore, the findings unveil two mechanisms through which initial cues of uniqueness influence perceivers' creative collaboration intention: 1) Activating implicit associations with concepts that are of positive valence in creative collaborations and giving rise to favorable affective gut reactions towards the displayer (i.e., liking); and 2)

providing signals of one's unique identities, motives, or backgrounds that contribute to inferences of the displayer's creative potential. The study thus reveals that initial cues of uniqueness, even though may not necessarily be valid indicators of one's ability to be creative, can leave a unique impression and influence creative collaboration intention through both heuristic mental associations and signaling one's creative potential. It integrates theories on impressions and judgments to study creative collaborations, providing a novel social cognition perspective to study the social side of creativity.

Second, this study illuminates the potential benefits of displaying cues of uniqueness, facilitating the scholarly understanding of the outcomes of interpersonal perceptions of uniqueness. Prior research has established the general desire of individuals to be seen as unique and revealed that observable cues such as one's clothing could be used to demonstrate a sense of distinctiveness (Lynn & Snyder, 2002; Tian et al., 2001). However, the literature rarely systematically discusses the interpersonal implications of displaying cues of uniqueness. This research demonstrates that cues of uniqueness can elicit favorable affective reactions and inferences about one's creative potential, which are beneficial for building creative collaborations. Furthermore, this research also identifies contextual factors, including the perceiver's need for uniqueness and the displayer's competence-based status, that shape of influence of cues of uniqueness. Specifically, the benefits of cues of uniqueness are most salient when the perceiver has a stronger need for uniqueness, and the displayer has a lower status. While the results of the archival data analyses are mixed, they generally show that the relationship between a cue of uniqueness (i.e., name uniqueness) and creative collaboration likelihood leans towards the positive side when the culture in the social context is looser. Together, these

findings advance research on social perceptions of uniqueness by highlighting the role of cue-based impressions of uniqueness in the onset of creative collaborations and unveiling displayers' and perceivers' features that influence the perceptions and inferences based on cues of uniqueness.

Third, this study links individuals' features that are rare and different from other people in a social environment (i.e., uniqueness) and perceivers' creative collaboration intention, shedding light on the relationship between the social processes of creativity and individual uniqueness. Social psychology literature has traditionally suggested that similarity begets connections while "being different" leads to social rejections (Byrne, 1969; Montoya et al., 2008). While approaching and favoring similar others prevails in social interactions, a growing body of literature recognizes that in workplace settings, differences are not only unavoidable but sometimes are also considered desirable when seeking task-oriented collaborations (Brennecke, 2020; Jetten & Matthew, 2014; Kuwabara et al., 2022). My research found that when the goal of the collaboration is to generate creative ideas, people are more willing to collaborate with an individual who demonstrated cues of uniqueness. In creative collaborations, cues of uniqueness elicit positive gut reactions and inferences of one's creative potential, and such effects are more salient when displaying cues of uniqueness is potentially more costly to the displayer (e.g., when the displayer has a lower status). These findings suggest that the creative collaboration context may have implications for individuals' implicit and explicit attitudes towards other people's cues of uniqueness. This study focuses on artificial cues of uniqueness that can be manipulated by individuals. It would be valuable to examine the generalizability of the findings to readily observable yet immutable cues such as

gender and race and explore whether collaborations for creativity may influence individuals' openness to and appraisals of differences and uniqueness.

## 5.2 Practical Implications

This research provides practical guidance regarding displaying cues of uniqueness in social interactions. First, people have the desire to be seen as distinctive and may display cues of uniqueness to fulfill the desire (Tian et al., 2001). Meanwhile, displaying cues of uniqueness can be risky as it can be seen as quirky and lead to social rejection (Gebauer et al., 2012). My research suggests that it is critical to consider the goal of social interactions when considering displaying cues of uniqueness. Essentially, when seeking collaborators for creative endeavors, people tend to have a positive reaction, infer greater creative potential, and gravitate toward those who demonstrate cues of uniqueness in early interactions. Therefore, when the goals of social interactions are relevant to creativity, it would thus be beneficial for individuals to leverage readily recognizable cues to demonstrate unique individual features, which would help solicit creative collaborations. However, when the goals of interactions or collaborative procedures are irrelevant to creativity or do not require unconventional thinking, people should display cues of uniqueness with caution.

Second, the findings of this study also inform impression management strategies based on individual uniqueness. Specifically, impression management tactics mainly focus on enhancing perceivers' perception of competence and warmth (Holoien & Fiske, 2013). My research further reveals that displaying cues of uniqueness can also be beneficial, especially if the displayer wants to leave an impression with great creative potential. Leveraging cues of uniqueness in impression management is of even greater
value for individuals with lower competence-based status, as this study shows that cues of uniqueness serve as stronger signals of creative potential for individuals of lower competence-based status. Indeed, uniqueness is considered major brand equity for products, which is usually communicated to consumers through product-unrelated cues such as brand name or packaging as well as product-related cues such as ingredient or function of the product (Aaker, 1996; Keller, 1993; Netemeyer et al., 2004; Olson et al., 2021). Likewise, individuals should consider constructing a "personal brand" and communicate individual uniqueness via readily recognizable cues (e.g., unique aesthetic appearance style) as well as cues that communicate essential information regarding one's unique competence (e.g., unique knowledge domains). Especially when one lacks experience in a field and thus has a lower status in professional interactions, personal branding based on uniqueness can highlight one's creative potential and thus increase others' creative collaboration intention. Furthermore, when utilizing cues of uniqueness, one should also be cognizant of the target audience's preference as well as norms in the context to strive for a balance between signaling unique perspectives and abilities and not eliciting negative affective gut reactions.

Finally, this research also yields implications for individuals seeking creative collaborations. This study shows that individuals tend to be attracted by individuals' who demonstrate cues of uniqueness when seeking collaborators for creativity. However, it should be noted that not all cues are authentic indicators of individuals' actual unique abilities or perspectives that can contribute to creative collaborations. Therefore, while people should stay open to others' unique attributes, as uniqueness and differences may

breed truly novel ideas, they should focus more on seeking unique expertise and perspectives rather than surface-level uniqueness.

#### **5.3** Limitations and Future Directions

Admittedly, this research is not without limitations, and the limitations point out directions that warrant further investigations. First, a major limitation of this study is that it focuses on displayers of initial cues of uniqueness from a particular group, which may influence the generalizability of the findings. Specifically, in the two vignette-based experiments, the displayers of cues of uniqueness are all white males, and the archival data study only includes the most-cited scientists, who already have relatively higher social status and thus enjoy more discretions to behave differently than people of lower status in a social environment (Bellezza et al., 2014; Ridgeway, 1991). While the study takes displayers' status into account, it focuses on competence-based status, a type of "achieved status" rather than "ascribed status," such as status due to one's gender or race (Desmichel et al., 2020; Foladare, 1969). It would be valuable to investigate whether the desirable outcomes found in this study are "privilege to be unique." Future studies can examine the interaction between artificial cues of uniqueness and minority status in a social context, which would not only further the understanding of cues of uniqueness but also contribute to the literature on workplace diversity.

Second, this study examines cues that are relatively neutral, yet the extent to which an individual's features are rare and deviate from norms may likely trigger different gut reactions or inferences. Essentially, cues of uniqueness make the displayer leave a unique impression on perceivers. The extent to which perceivers hence recognize the individual as "stand out" and really distinct from other people leads them to have a

general attitude and inferences about the creative potential of the displayer. Therefore, future research can further examine whether the influences of cues of uniqueness are contingent on the extent to which perceivers recognize them as uncommon and different from the norms. It is possible that a moderate level of uniqueness may bring beneficial interpersonal outcomes, but cues that deviate from normative expectations too much may produce undesirable consequences.

Third, the primary analyses of Study 4 using data of scholars across 21 fields and its supplementary analyses yield divergent findings. These intriguing findings thus illuminate a future research direction that warrants more scholarly investigations: How do the target domains of creativity influence the choice of collaborators and other aspects of the social processes to pursue creativity? Indeed, my study shows that while cues of uniqueness and interpersonal perceptions can influence people's creative collaboration intention, the inception and development of creative collaborations are largely influenced by norms of collaboration in different fields. An emerging stream of creativity literature suggests that what creativity means and how to achieve creative outcomes can significantly vary across target domains or individual creators (e.g., Harvey & Berry, 2022; Lucas & Mai, 2022). Apparently, such differences would likely play a role in the choice of collaborators and creative collaboration processes. It would be fruitful to investigate whether people's responses to cues of uniqueness and creative collaboration intention differ across target domains (e.g., collaborations in a marketing department vs. a research and development department in a company). Furthermore, the influence of initial cues of uniqueness may also unfold differently when people are looking for a collaborator to generate creative solutions to an immediate and specific problem or are

seeking long-term creative collaborations towards the future (Harvey & Berry, 2022). More fine-grained theories and studies to unpack the nuances in creative collaborations for different forms of creativity would be invaluable to advancing the scholarly understanding of the social side of creativity.

#### 5.4 Conclusion

In Apple's iconic "Think different" commercial, the following opening lines narrated by Steve Jobs set the tone for this classic marketing campaign: "Here's to the crazy ones. The misfits. The rebels. The troublemakers. The round pegs in the square holes." (Siltanen, 2011). While people desire to be seen as unique, the concerns of social rejection due to uniqueness also prevail. Integrating literature on the social side of creativity as well as research on social cognitions and impressions, this study reveals that initially available cues that demonstrate one's rare and distinct features could elicit positive affective reactions and inferences of creative potential, which is advantageous to increasing perceivers' creative collaboration intention. When seeking to generate novel and useful ideas, people are more willing to work with a collaborator who displays some cues of uniqueness, even though these cues may not necessarily be relevant to one's ability to think creatively. Such effect is most salient when the perceiver has a high level of need for uniqueness, and the displayer has a relatively low status. The findings suggest that the associations between uniqueness and creativity established in people's minds are projected to the choice of creative collaborators during initial interactions. This research thus shows the importance of impressions to the development of creative collaborations and the value of constructing unique initial impressions in social interactions, especially when the goal of the interaction is creativity.

## APPENDIX A

# Scenarios and Manipulations of Study 1

Generic Task	Creative Task
<b>Proofreading Task:</b> In this task, you will collaborate with another individual to proofread a short report without changing any essential information in it. The goal is to make the report more accurate and readable, so you do not need to add any new content.	Creative Idea Generation Task: This task is based upon a scenario that takes place at a major West Coast University: after years of mismanagement and poor- quality food, the University restaurant has finally gone bankrupt and is being shut down. The school administration is trying to decide what new business should go into that space. You will collaborate with your partner to come up with as many creative solutions to their problem as possible. Creative solutions need to be both novel and useful.

# Cues of Uniqueness Manipulation

Туре	Unique	Non-unique
Name	Mican D.	Michael B.
Appearance Style		
Knowledge Domain	[B.S. in Oceanography and Coastal Science]	[B.S. in Computer and Information Science]

#### **APPENDIX B**

### **Scenarios and Manipulations of Study 2**

Imagine that you are a consultant working at Artling, a management consulting

company specializing in the art and culture industry. At Artling, employees typically have

the autonomy to collaborate with each other on job tasks.

## **Manipulation of Displayer Competence-Based Status**

High Status	Low Status
[Name] is 33 years old. He earned his	[Name] is 33 years old. He earned his
MBA from Harvard Business School with	bachelor's degree from Lesley University
a major in marketing. He worked for a	with a major in marketing. He worked for
prestigious consulting company before	a small consulting company in the
joining Artling and has a strong track	industry before joining Artling and has
record of good performance. He has	little track record of performance. He has
plentiful experience in developing	limited experience in composing business
business development and marketing	development and marketing plans and has
plans for major companies, including the	never worked with major companies in
most renowned ones in the industry.	the industry.

### **Manipulation of Cues of Uniqueness**

Unique	Non-unique
Today, your group is welcoming a new colleague. Mican.	Today, your group is welcoming a new colleague. Michael.
eoneugue, mieum	concugac, michaen
You notice that Mican has a quite uncommon name and wears clothes that would be considered to be business casual but with a unique twist: he wears a shirt with unusual geometric prints and shoes in	You notice that Michael has a quite common name and wears clothes that would be considered to be typical business casual: he wears a blue shirt, khaki pants, and black shoes. He also
vibrant colors. He also has a degree in	has a degree in consumer psychology, a
popular culture, a field that is fairly	field that is very popular among college
uncommon for most college students.	students.

## APPENDIX C

# Manipulation of Cultural Tightness-Looseness of Study 3

Tight Organizational Culture	Loose Organizational Culture
You have been working as a consultant at Artling for three years. Artling is a leading consulting company in the industry because it has strong norms and well-enforced rules of conduct to ensure order and efficiency. At Artling, employees have well-defined job duties and specific benchmarks for performance to ensure clarity about employees' responsibilities and performance expectations. Artling also has a strict dress code and emphasizes punctuality to facilitate professionalism and efficiency. Artling has strong norms—everyone agrees upon appropriate behaviors and knows exactly what they should do in most situations. Employees who deviate from these norms or violate the rules are considered eroding Artling's core values and face sanctions and punishments.	You have been working as a consultant at Artling for three years. Artling is a leading consulting company in the industry because it has almost no norms or any strict rules of conduct to ensure flexibility and freedom. At Artling, employees have malleable job duties and adjustable standards for performance to ensure adaptability of employees' responsibilities and performance expectations. Artling also has no dress code and provides flexible work arrangements to facilitate freedom and agility. Artling has very few norms—everyone has a lot of freedom in deciding how they want to behave in most situations. Employees are not expected to uphold any given practices and will not face sanctions of their behaviors as freedom is part of Artling's core values.

#### REFERENCES

- Aaker, D. A. (1996). Measuring brand equity across products and markets. *California Management Review*, 38(3), 102–120.
- Aarts, H., & Dijksterhuis, A. (2003). The silence of the library: environment, situational norm, and social behavior. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 84(1), 18–28.
- Abra, J. (1994). Collaboration in creative work: An initiative for investigation. *Creativity Research Journal*, 7(1), 1–20.
- Aggarwal, I., & Woolley, A. W. (2019). Team Creativity, Cognition, and Cognitive Style Diversity. *Management Science*, 65(4), 1586–1599.
- Aguinis, H., & Bradley, K. J. (2014). Best Practice Recommendations for Designing and Implementing Experimental Vignette Methodology Studies. Organizational Research Methods, 17(4), 351–371.
- Aktas, M., Gelfand, M. J., & Hanges, P. J. (2016). Cultural tightness–looseness and perceptions of effective leadership. *Journal of Cross-Cultural Psychology*, 47(2), 294–309.
- Allen, T. D., & Rush, M. C. (1998). The effects of organizational citizenship behavior on performance judgments: a field study and a laboratory experiment. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 83(2), 247–260.
- AlShebli, B. K., Rahwan, T., & Woon, W. L. (2018). The preeminence of ethnic diversity in scientific collaboration. *Nature Communications*, *9*(1), 5163.
- Amabile, T. M. (1983). The social psychology of creativity: A componential conceptualization. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 45(2), 357–376.
- Amabile, T. M. (1988). A model of creativity and innovation in organizations. *Research in Organizational Behavior*, 10(1), 123–167.
- Amabile, T. M., & Pratt, M. G. (2016). The dynamic componential model of creativity and innovation in organizations: Making progress, making meaning. *Research in Organizational Behavior*, 36, 157–183.
- Ames, D. R., & Iyengar, S. S. (2005). Appraising the unusual: Framing effects and moderators of uniqueness-seeking and social projection. *Journal of Experimental Social Psychology*, 41(3), 271–282.
- Asch, S. E. (1951). Effects of group pressure upon the modifications and distortion of judgments. In L. W. Porter, H. L. Angle, & R. W. Allen (Eds.), Organizational influence processes (pp. 295–303). New York, NY: Routledge.

- Ashton-James, C. E., & Chartrand, T. L. (2009). Social cues for creativity: The impact of behavioral mimicry on convergent and divergent thinking. *Journal of Experimental Social Psychology*, 45(4), 1036–1040.
- Baer, M. (2010). The strength-of-weak-ties perspective on creativity: a comprehensive examination and extension. *The Journal of Applied Psychology*, 95(3), 592–601.
- Baer, M., Evans, K., Oldham, G. R., & Boasso, A. (2015). The social network side of individual innovation: A meta-analysis and path-analytic integration. *Organizational Psychology Review*, 5(3), 191–223.
- Bandura, A. (2002). Social cognitive theory in cultural context. *Applied Psychology*, *51*(2), 269–290.
- Bao, H.-W.-S., Lu, H., & Luo, Y. L. L. (2020). Unique-named people are perceived more suitable for unique jobs: A social perception and its real-life impact on name change. PsyArXiv. http://dx.doi.org/10.31234/osf.io/xeag2.
- Barrick, M. R., Swider, B. W., & Stewart, G. L. (2010). Initial evaluations in the interview: relationships with subsequent interviewer evaluations and employment offers. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 95(6), 1163–1172.
- Baten, R. A., Aslin, R. N., Ghoshal, G., & Hoque, E. (2021). Cues to gender and racial identity reduce creativity in diverse social networks. *Scientific Reports*, 11(1), 10261.
- Baumeister, R. F. (1982). A self-presentational view of social phenomena. *Psychological Bulletin*, 91(1), 3–26.
- Bellezza, S., Gino, F., & Keinan, A. (2013). The Red Sneakers Effect: Inferring Status and Competence from Signals of Nonconformity. *Journal of Consumer Research*, *41*(1), 35–54.
- Berger, J., & Heath, C. (2007). Where Consumers Diverge from Others: Identity Signaling and Product Domains. *Journal of Consumer Research*, *34*(2), 121–134.
- Berger, J., Cohen, B. P., & Zelditch, M. (1972). Status Characteristics and Social Interaction. American Sociological Review, 37(3), 241–255.
- Bergh, D. D., Connelly, B. L., Ketchen, D. J., Jr, & Shannon, L. M. (2014). Signalling theory and equilibrium in strategic management research: An assessment and a research agenda. *Journal of Management Studies*, *51*(8), 1334–1360.
- Bertrand, M., & Mullainathan, S. (2004). Are Emily and Greg More Employable Than Lakisha and Jamal? A Field Experiment on Labor Market Discrimination. *American Economic Review*, 94(4), 991–1013.

- Blevins, C. & Mullen, L. (2015). Jane, John... Leslie? A Historical Method for Algorithmic Gender Prediction. DHQ: Digital Humanities Quarterly. 9(3). https://go.openathens.net/redirector/gatech.edu?url=https://search.proquest.com/sc holarly-journals/jane-john-leslie-historical-methodalgorithmic/docview/2555207678/se-2
- Bird, B., R., & Smith, E. A. (2005). Signaling Theory, Strategic Interaction, and Symbolic Capital. *Current Anthropology*, *46*(2), 221–248.
- Boies, K., Fiset, J., & Gill, H. (2015). Communication and trust are key: Unlocking the relationship between leadership and team performance and creativity. *The Leadership Quarterly*, 26(6), 1080–1094.
- Bonefeld, M., & Dickhäuser, O. (2018). (Biased) Grading of Students' Performance: Students' Names, Performance Level, and Implicit Attitudes. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 9, 481.
- Bowles, H. R., & Gelfand, M. (2010). Status and the evaluation of workplace deviance. *Psychological Science*, *21*(1), 49–54.
- Bowling, N. A., & Huang, J. L. (2018). Your attention please! Toward a better understanding of research participant carelessness. *Applied Psychology*, 67(2), 227–230.
- Brennecke, J. (2020). Dissonant Ties in Intraorganizational Networks: Why Individuals Seek Problem-Solving Assistance from Difficult Colleagues. Academy of Management Journal, 63(3), 743–778.
- Burroughs, W. J., Drews, D. R., & Hallman, W. K. (1991). Predicting personality from personal possessions: A self-presentational analysis. *Journal of Social Behavior* and Personality, 6(6), 147-63.
- Burt, R. S. (2004). Structural Holes and Good Ideas. *American Journal of Sociology*, *110*(2), 349–399.
- Chaiken, S., & Ledgerwood, A. (2012). A theory of heuristic and systematic information processing. In P. A. W. Van Lange, A. W. Kruglanski, & E. T. Higgins (Eds.), *Handbook of Theories of Social Psychology: Volume One* (pp. 246–166). Sage: Thousand Oaks, CA.
- Chan, C., Berger, J., & Van Boven, L. (2012). Identifiable but Not Identical: Combining Social Identity and Uniqueness Motives in Choice. *Journal of Consumer Research*, 39(3), 561–573.
- Chen, H., Wang, X., Zang, H., & Guinote, A. (2021). Being a tough person in a tight world: Cultural tightness leads to a desire for muscularity. *Journal of Experimental Social Psychology*, 96, 104183.

- Christopher, A. N. (1998). The psychology of names: An empirical Reexamination1. *Journal of Applied Social Psychology*, 28(13), 1173–1195.
- Chua, R., & Jin, M. (2020). Across the Great Divides: Gender Dynamics Influence How Intercultural Conflict Helps or Hurts Creative Collaboration. Academy of Management Journal, 63(3), 903–934.
- Chua, R. Y. J., Morris, M. W., & Mor, S. (2012). Collaborating across cultures: Cultural metacognition and affect-based trust in creative collaboration. *Organizational Behavior and Human Decision Processes*, 118(2), 116–131.
- Chua, R. Y. J., Roth, Y., & Lemoine, J.-F. (2015). The Impact of Culture on Creativity: How Cultural Tightness and Cultural Distance Affect Global Innovation Crowdsourcing Work. *Administrative Science Quarterly*, 60(2), 189–227.
- Cialdini, R. B., & Goldstein, N. J. (2004). Social influence: compliance and conformity. *Annual Review of Psychology*, 55, 591–621.
- Cohen, J., Cohen, P., West, S. G., & Aiken, L. S. (2013). *Applied multiple* regression/correlation analysis for the behavioral sciences (3rd ed.). New York, NY: Routledge.
- Condon, J. W., & Crano, W. D. (1988). Inferred evaluation and the relation between attitude similarity and interpersonal attraction. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, *54*(5), 789–797.
- Connelly, B. L., Certo, S. T., Ireland, R. D., & Reutzel, C. R. (2011). Signaling Theory: A Review and Assessment. *Journal of Management*, *37*(1), 39–67.
- Cotton, J. L., O'Neill, B. S., & Griffin, A. (2008). The "name game": affective and hiring reactions to first names. *Journal of Managerial Psychology*, 23(1), 18–39.
- Cunningham, W. A., Johnson, M. K., Gatenby, J. C., Gore, J. C., & Banaji, M. R. (2003). Neural components of social evaluation. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 85(4), 639–649.
- Davis, B. C., Hmieleski, K. M., Webb, J. W., & Coombs, J. E. (2017). Funders' positive affective reactions to entrepreneurs' crowdfunding pitches: The influence of perceived product creativity and entrepreneurial passion. *Journal of Business Venturing*, 32(1), 90–106.
- De Dreu, C. K. W. (2006). When Too Little or Too Much Hurts: Evidence for a Curvilinear Relationship Between Task Conflict and Innovation in Teams. *Journal of Management*, *32*(1), 83–107.
- De Dreu, C. K., & West, M. A. (2001). Minority dissent and team innovation: the importance of participation in decision making. *The Journal of Applied Psychology*, *86*(6), 1191–1201.

- Desmichel, P., Ordabayeva, N., & Kocher, B. (2020). What if diamonds did not last forever? Signaling status achievement through ephemeral versus iconic luxury goods. *Organizational Behavior and Human Decision Processes*, *158*, 49–65.
- DiMaggio, P. (1997). Culture and cognition. *Annual Review of Sociology*, 23(1), 263–287.
- Dollinger, S. J. (2003). Need for uniqueness, need for cognition, and creativity. *The Journal of Creative Behavior*, *37*(2), 99–116.
- Dunton, B. C., & Fazio, R. H. (1997). An individual difference measure of Motivation to control prejudiced reactions. *Personality & Social Psychology Bulletin*, 23(3), 316–326.
- Eisenbeiss, S. A., van Knippenberg, D., & Boerner, S. (2008). Transformational leadership and team innovation: integrating team climate principles. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, *93*(6), 1438–1446.
- Elsbach, K. D., & Flynn, F. J. (2013). Creative collaboration and the self-concept: A study of toy designers. *Journal of Management Studies*, *50*(4), 515–544.
- Elsbach, K. D., & Kramer, R. M. (2003). Assessing creativity in Hollywood pitch meetings: evidence for a dual-process model of creativity judgments. *Academy of Management Journal*, 46(3), 283–301.
- Ferguson, M. J., & Bargh, J. A. (2004). Liking is for doing: the effects of goal pursuit on automatic evaluation. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 87(5), 557– 572.
- Fiske, S. T. (1993). Social cognition and social perception. *Annual Review of Psychology*, 44, 155–194.
- Fiske, S. T. (2018). Stereotype Content: Warmth and Competence Endure. *Current Directions in Psychological Science*, 27(2), 67–73.
- Fiske, S. T., & Bai, X. (2020). Vertical and horizontal inequality are status and power differences: applications to stereotyping by competence and warmth. *Current Opinion in Psychology*, *33*, 216–221.
- Foladare, I. S. (1969). A Clarification of "Ascribed Status" and "Achieved Status." *The Sociological Quarterly*, *10*(1), 53–61.
- Fromkin, H. L., & Snyder, C. R. (1980). The Search for Uniqueness and Valuation of Scarcity. In K. J. Gergen, M. S. Greenberg, & R. H. Willis (Eds.), Social Exchange: Advances in Theory and Research (pp. 57–75). New York, NY: Springer.

- Gaggioli, A., Mazzoni, E., Benvenuti, M., Galimberti, C., Bova, A., Brivio, E., Cipresso, P., Riva, G., & Chirico, A. (2020). Networked Flow in Creative Collaboration: A Mixed Method Study. *Creativity Research Journal*, 32(1), 41–54.
- Gawronski, B., & Bodenhausen, G. V. (2006). Associative and propositional processes in evaluation: an integrative review of implicit and explicit attitude change. *Psychological Bulletin*, 132(5), 692–731.
- Gawronski, B., & Bodenhausen, G. V. (2007). Unraveling the Processes Underlying Evaluation: Attitudes from the Perspective of the Ape Model. *Social Cognition*, 25(5), 687–717.
- Gawronski, B., & Bodenhausen, G. V. (2011). The associative--propositional evaluation model: Theory, evidence, and open questions. Advances in Experimental Social Psychology, 44, 59–127.
- Gawronski, B., & Creighton, L. A. (2013). Dual process theories. In D. E. Carlston (Ed.), *The Oxford handbook of social cognition* (pp. 282–312). Oxford University Press.
- Gawronski, B., & Sritharan, R. (2010). Formation, change, and contextualization of mental associations. In B. Gawronski & B. K. Payne (Eds.), *Handbook of implicit* social cognition: Measurement, theory, and applications (pp. 216–240). The Guilford Press.
- Gawronski, B., Walther, E., & Blank, H. (2005). Cognitive consistency and the formation of interpersonal attitudes: Cognitive balance affects the encoding of social information. *Journal of Experimental Social Psychology*, *41*(6), 618–626.
- Gebauer, J. E., Leary, M. R., & Neberich, W. (2012). Unfortunate First Names: Effects of Name-Based Relational Devaluation and Interpersonal Neglect. Social Psychological and Personality Science, 3(5), 590–596.
- Gelfand, M. (2018). Rule makers, rule breakers. Scribner Book Company.
- Gelfand, M. J. (2012). Culture's constraints. Current Directions in Psychological Science, 21(6), 420–424.
- Gelfand, M. J., Nishii, L. H., & Raver, J. L. (2006). On the nature and importance of cultural tightness-looseness. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 91(6), 1225–1244.
- Gelfand, M. J., Raver, J. L., Nishii, L., Leslie, L. M., Lun, J., Lim, B. C., Duan, L., Almaliach, A., Ang, S., Arnadottir, J., Aycan, Z., Boehnke, K., Boski, P., Cabecinhas, R., Chan, D., Chhokar, J., D'Amato, A., Ferrer, M., Fischlmayr, I. C., ... Yamaguchi, S. (2011). Differences between tight and loose cultures: a 33nation study. *Science*, 332(6033), 1100–1104.

- Gilson, L. L., Mathieu, J. E., Shalley, C. E., & Ruddy, T. M. (2005). Creativity and Standardization: Complementary or Conflicting Drivers of Team Effectiveness? *Academy of Management Journal*, 48(3), 521–531.
- Goldberg, C. B. (2005). Relational demography and similarity-attraction in interview assessments and subsequent offer decisions. *Group & Organization Management*, 30(6), 597–624.
- Goldberg, L. R. (1992). The development of markers for the Big-Five factor structure. *Psychological Assessment*, 4(1), 26–42.
- Goncalo, J. A., Flynn, F. J., & Kim, S. H. (2010). Are two narcissists better than one? The link between narcissism, perceived creativity, and creative performance. *Personality & Social Psychology Bulletin*, 36(11), 1484–1495.
- Goncalo, J. A., & Krause, V. (2010). Being different or being better?: Disentangling the effects of independence and competition on group creativity. In R. T. Shane & J. L. Edward (Eds.), Advances in Group Processes (Vol. 27, pp. 129–157). Emerald Group Publishing Limited.
- Goncalo, J. A., & Staw, B. M. (2006). Individualism–collectivism and group creativity. *Organizational Behavior and Human Decision Processes*, 100(1), 96–109.
- Gong, Y., Kim, T.-Y., Lee, D.-R., & Zhu, J. (2013). A Multilevel Model of Team Goal Orientation, Information Exchange, and Creativity. *Academy of Management Journal*, 56(3), 827–851.
- Granovetter, M. S. (1973). The strength of weak ties. *American Journal of Sociology*, 78(6), 1360–1380.
- Greenwald, A. G., McGhee, D. E., & Schwartz, J. L. (1998). Measuring individual differences in implicit cognition: the implicit association test. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 74(6), 1464–1480.
- Griskevicius, V., Goldstein, N. J., Mortensen, C. R., Cialdini, R. B., & Kenrick, D. T. (2006). Going along versus going alone: When fundamental motives facilitate strategic (non)conformity. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 91(2), 281–294.
- Han, J., Han, J., & Brass, D. J. (2014). Human capital diversity in the creation of social capital for team creativity. *Journal of Organizational Behavior*, *35*(1), 54–71.
- Harvey, S. (2014). Creative Synthesis: Exploring the Process of Extraordinary Group Creativity. *Academy of Management Review*, *39*(3), 324-343.
- Harvey, S., & Berry, J. (2022). Toward a meta-theory of creativity forms: How novelty and usefulness shape creativity. *Academy of Management Review*. https://doi.org/10.5465/amr.2020.0110

- Hellström, Å., & Tekle, J. (1994). Person perception through facial photographs: Effects of glasses, hair, and beard on judgments of occupation and personal qualities. *European Journal of Social Psychology*, 24(6), 693–705.
- Hepburn, P., Louis, R., & Desmond, M. (2020). Racial and gender disparities among evicted Americans. *Sociological Science*, *7*, 649–662.
- Hewlin, P. F. (2003). And the Award for Best Actor Goes to...: Facades of Conformity in Organizational Settings. *Academy of Management Review*, 28(4), 633–642.
- Hewlin, P. F. (2009). Wearing the cloak: antecedents and consequences of creating facades of conformity. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 94(3), 727–741.
- Hirst, G., Van Knippenberg, D., Zhou, J., Quintane, E., & Zhu, C. (2015). Heard it through the grapevine: indirect networks and employee creativity. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, *100*(2), 567–574.
- Hoever, I. J., van Knippenberg, D., van Ginkel, W. P., & Barkema, H. G. (2012). Fostering team creativity: perspective taking as key to unlocking diversity's potential. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 97(5), 982–996.
- Hoever, I. J., Zhou, J., & van Knippenberg, D. (2018). Different Strokes for Different Teams: The Contingent Effects of Positive and Negative Feedback on the Creativity of Informationally Homogeneous and Diverse Teams. Academy of Management Journal, 61(6), 2159–2181.
- Hofstra, B., Kulkarni, V. V., Munoz-Najar Galvez, S., He, B., Jurafsky, D., & McFarland, D. A. (2020). The diversity-innovation paradox in science. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 117(17), 9284–9291.
- Hollander, E. P. (1958). Conformity, status, and idiosyncrasy credit. *Psychological Review*, 65(2), 117–127.
- Holoien, D. S., & Fiske, S. T. (2013). Downplaying positive impressions: Compensation between warmth and competence in impression management. *Journal of Experimental Social Psychology*, 49(1), 33–41.
- Holt, D. B. (1995). How Consumers Consume: A Typology of Consumption Practices. *Journal of Consumer Research*, 22(1), 1–16.
- Holtz, B. C. (2013). Trust primacy. Journal of Management, 39(7), 1891–1923.
- Huang, J. L., Bowling, N. A., Liu, M., & Li, Y. (2015). Detecting insufficient effort responding with an infrequency scale: Evaluating validity and participant reactions. *Journal of Business and Psychology*, 30(2), 299–311.

- Huang, L., Frideger, M., & Pearce, J. L. (2013). Political skill: explaining the effects of nonnative accent on managerial hiring and entrepreneurial investment decisions. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 98(6), 1005–1017.
- Hülsheger, U. R., Anderson, N., & Salgado, J. F. (2009). Team-level predictors of innovation at work: a comprehensive meta-analysis spanning three decades of research. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 94(5), 1128–1145.
- Hutchison, P., Jetten, J., & Gutierrez, R. (2011). Deviant but desirable: Group variability and evaluation of atypical group members. *Journal of Experimental Social Psychology*, 47(6), 1155–1161.
- Imai, K., & Khanna, K. (2016). Improving ecological inference by predicting individual ethnicity from voter registration records. *Political Analysis: An Annual Publication of the Methodology Section of the American Political Science Association*, 24(2), 263–272.
- Ingold, P. V., Dönni, M., & Lievens, F. (2018). A dual-process theory perspective to better understand judgments in assessment centers: The role of initial impressions for dimension ratings and validity. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 103(12), 1367–1378.
- Ioannidis, J. P. A., Baas, J., Klavans, R., & Boyack, K. W. (2019). A standardized citation metrics author database annotated for scientific field. *PLoS Biology*, 17(8), e3000384.
- Ioannidis, J. P. A., Klavans, R., & Boyack, K. W. (2016). Multiple citation indicators and their composite across scientific disciplines. *PLoS Biology*, *14*(7), e1002501.
- Jackson, J. C., Caluori, N., Abrams, S., Beckman, E., Gelfand, M., & Gray, K. (2021). Tight cultures and vengeful gods: How culture shapes religious belief. *Journal of Experimental Psychology: General*, 150(10), 2057–2077.
- Jackson, J. C., Gelfand, M., De, S., & Fox, A. (2019). The loosening of American culture over 200 years is associated with a creativity-order trade-off. *Nature Human Behaviour*, 3(3), 244–250.
- Jensen, K., Kovács, B., & Sorenson, O. (2018). Gender differences in obtaining and maintaining patent rights. *Nature Biotechnology*, *36*(4), 307–309.
- Jetten, J., & Hornsey, M. J. (2014). Deviance and dissent in groups. *Annual Review of Psychology*, 65, 461–485.
- Kalist, D. E., & Lee, D. Y. (2009). First names and crime: Does unpopularity spell trouble? *Social Science Quarterly*, *90*(1), 39–49.

- Kang, S. K., DeCelles, K. A., Tilcsik, A., & Jun, S. (2016). Whitened résumés: Race and self-presentation in the labor market. *Administrative Science Quarterly*, 61(3), 469–502.
- Kang, Y., Zhu, D. H., & Zhang, Y. A. (2021). Being extraordinary: How CEOs' uncommon names explain strategic distinctiveness. *Strategic Management Journal*, 42(2), 462–488.
- Kasof, J. (1995). Explaining creativity: The attributional perspective. *Creativity Research Journal*, 8(4), 311–366.
- Katz, A. N., & Thompson, M. (1993). On judging creativity: By one's acts shall ye be known (and vice versa). *Creativity Research Journal*, 6(4), 345–362.
- Keller, K. L. (1993). Conceptualizing, measuring, and managing customer-based brand equity. *Journal of Marketing*, *57*(1), 1–22.
- Khazan, O. (2020, March 16). The perks of being a weirdo. *The Atlantic*. https://www.theatlantic.com/magazine/archive/2020/04/the-perks-of-being-aweirdo/606778/
- Kim, S. H., Vincent, L. C., & Goncalo, J. A. (2013). Outside advantage: Can social rejection fuel creative thought? *Journal of Experimental Psychology: General*, 142(3), 605–611.
- Kitayama, S., & Uskul, A. K. (2011). Culture, mind, and the brain: current evidence and future directions. *Annual Review of Psychology*, 62(1), 419–449.
- Kruglanski, A. W., & Gigerenzer, G. (2011). Intuitive and deliberate judgments are based on common principles. *Psychological Review*, *118*(1), 97–109.
- Kulig, J. W. (2013). What's in a name? Our false uniqueness! *British Journal of Social Psychology*, 52(1), 173–179.
- Kung, F. Y. H., Kwok, N., & Brown, D. J. (2018). Are attention check questions a threat to scale validity? *Applied Psychology*, 67(2), 264–283.
- Kuwabara, K., Cao, J., Cho, S. S., & Ingram, P. (2022). Lay theories of instrumental relations: Explaining individual differences in dispositional similarity-attraction. *Academy of Management Journal*. https://doi.org/10.5465/amj.2020.0770
- Labgold, K., Hamid, S., Shah, S., Gandhi, N. R., Chamberlain, A., Khan, F., Khan, S., Smith, S., Williams, S., Lash, T. L., & Collin, L. J. (2020). Measuring the missing: greater racial and ethnic disparities in COVID-19 burden after accounting for missing race/ethnicity data. *MedRxiv : The Preprint Server for Health Sciences*. https://doi.org/10.1101/2020.09.30.20203315

- Leahey, E. (2016). From Sole Investigator to Team Scientist: Trends in the Practice and Study of Research Collaboration. *Annual Review of Sociology*, 42(1), 81–100.
- Lee, Y., & Kramer, A. (2016). The role of purposeful diversity and inclusion strategy (PDIS) and cultural tightness/looseness in the relationship between national culture and organizational culture. *Human Resource Management Review*, 26(3), 198–208.
- Leung, K., & Wang, J. (2015). Social processes and team creativity in multicultural teams: A socio-technical framework. *Journal of Organizational Behavior*, *36*(7), 1008–1025.
- Levine, J. M., & Moreland, R. L. (2004). Collaboration: the social context of theory development. *Personality and Social Psychology Review*, 8(2), 164–172.
- Li, Y., Li, N., Guo, J., Li, J., & Harris, T. B. (2018). A Network View of Advice-giving and Individual Creativity in Teams: A Brokerage-driven, Socially Perpetuated Phenomenon. Academy of Management Journal, 61(6), 2210–2229.
- Liu, P., Chan, D., Qiu, L., Tov, W., & Tong, V. J. C. (2018). Effects of cultural tightnesslooseness and social network density on expression of positive and negative emotions: A large-scale study of impression management by Facebook users. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin*, 44(11), 1567–1581.
- Loewenstein, J., & Mueller, J. (2016). Implicit Theories of Creative Ideas: How Culture Guides Creativity Assessments. *Academy of Management Discoveries*, 2(4), 320– 348.
- Lucas, B. J., & Mai, K. M. (2022). Illumination and elbow grease: A theory of how mental models of the creative process influence creativity. *Organizational Behavior and Human Decision Processes*, 168, 104107.
- Luksyte, A., Unsworth, K. L., & Avery, D. R. (2018). Innovative work behavior and sexbased stereotypes: Examining sex differences in perceptions and evaluations of innovative work behavior. *Journal of Organizational Behavior*, *39*(3), 292–305.
- Lynn, M., & Harris, J. (1997). Individual differences in the pursuit of self-uniqueness through consumption. *Journal of Applied Social Psychology*, 27(21), 1861–1883.
- Lynn, & Snyder. (2002). Uniqueness seeking. In C. R. Snyder & S. J. Lopez (Eds.), *Handbook of positive psychology* (pp. 395–410). Oxford University Press.
- Maddux, W. W., & Galinsky, A. D. (2009). Cultural borders and mental barriers: The relationship between living abroad and creativity. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 96(5), 1047–1061.
- Magee, J. C., & Galinsky, A. D. (2008). Social hierarchy: The self reinforcing nature of power and status. *Academy of Management Annals*, 2(1), 351–398.

- Manjunath, A., Li, H., Song, S., Zhang, Z., Liu, S., Kahrobai, N., Gowda, A., Seffens, A., Zou, J., & Kumar, I. (2021). Comprehensive analysis of 2.4 million patent-toresearch citations maps the biomedical innovation and translation landscape. *Nature Biotechnology*, 39(6), 678–683.
- McPherson, M., Smith-Lovin, L., & Cook, J. M. (2001). Birds of a feather: Homophily in social networks. *Annual Review of Sociology*, 27(1), 415–444.
- Milgrom, P., & Roberts, J. (1986). Price and advertising signals of product quality. *Journal of Political Economy*, 94(4), 796–821.
- Miron-spektor, E., Erez, M., & Naveh, E. (2011). The effect of conformist and attentiveto-detail members on team innovation: Reconciling the innovation paradox. *Academy of Management Journal*, 54(4), 740–760.
- Montag, T., Maertz, C. P., & Baer, M. (2012). A critical analysis of the workplace creativity criterion space. *Journal of Management*, *38*(4), 1362–1386.
- Montoya, R. M., Horton, R. S., & Kirchner, J. (2008). Is actual similarity necessary for attraction? A meta-analysis of actual and perceived similarity. *Journal of Social* and Personal Relationships, 25(6), 889–922.
- Morris, M. W., & Leung, K. (2010). Creativity east and west: perspectives and parallels. *Management and Organization Review*, 6(3), 313–327.
- Mueller, J., Melwani, S., Loewenstein, J., & Deal, J. J. (2018). Reframing the decisionmakers' dilemma: towards a social context model of creative idea recognition. *Academy of Management Journal*, 61(1), 94–110.
- Mueller, J. S., & Kamdar, D. (2011). Why seeking help from teammates is a blessing and a curse: a theory of help seeking and individual creativity in team contexts. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, *96*(2), 263–276.
- Mueller, J. S., Wakslak, C. J., & Krishnan, V. (2014). Construing creativity: The how and why of recognizing creative ideas. *Journal of Experimental Social Psychology*, 51, 81–87.
- National Center for Science and Engineering Statistics (2018). *Doctorate Recipients from* U.S. Universities: 2016. Available at www.nsf.gov/statistics/2018/nsf18304.
- National Center for Science and Engineering Statistics (2021). *Doctorate Recipients from* U.S. Universities: 2020. Available at https://ncses.nsf.gov/pubs/nsf22300.
- Nemeth, C. J., & Goncalo, J. A. (2011). Rogues and heroes: Finding value in dissent. In J. Jetten & M. J. Hornsey (Eds.), *Rebels in groups: Dissent, deviance, difference* and defiance (pp. 17–35). Wiley Blackwell.

- Nestler, S., Egloff, B., Küfner, A. C. P., & Back, M. D. (2012). An integrative lens model approach to bias and accuracy in human inferences: hindsight effects and knowledge updating in personality judgments. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 103(4), 689–717.
- Netemeyer, R. G., Krishnan, B., Pullig, C., Wang, G., Yagci, M., Dean, D., Ricks, J., & Wirth, F. (2004). Developing and validating measures of facets of customer-based brand equity. *Journal of Business Research*, 57(2), 209–224.
- Niu, W., & Sternberg, R. (2002). Contemporary studies on the concept of creativity: The east and the west. *The Journal of Creative Behavior*, *36*(4), 269–288.
- Olson, J. A., Nahas, J., Chmoulevitch, D., Cropper, S. J., & Webb, M. E. (2021). Naming unrelated words predicts creativity. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *118*(25).
- Olson, M. A., & Fazio, R. H. (2006). Reducing automatically activated racial prejudice through implicit evaluative conditioning. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin*, *32*(4), 421–433.
- Oostrom, J. K., Ronay, R., & van Kleef, G. A. (2021). The signalling effects of nonconforming dress style in personnel selection contexts: do applicants' qualifications matter? *European Journal of Work and Organizational Psychology*, 30(1), 70–82.
- Parke, M. R., Seo, M.-G., Hu, X., & Jin, S. (2022). The creative and cross-functional benefits of wearing hearts on sleeves: Authentic affect climate, information elaboration, and team creativity. *Organization Science*, 33(2), 600–623.
- Perry-Smith, J. E. (2006). Social yet creative: The role of social relationships in facilitating individual creativity. *Academy of Management Journal*, 49(1), 85–101.
- Perry-Smith, J. E., & Shalley, C. E. (2003). The social side of creativity: A static and dynamic social network perspective. *Academy of Management Review*, 28(1), 89– 106.
- Perry-Smith, J. E., & Shalley, C. E. (2014). A social composition view of team creativity: The role of member nationality-heterogeneous ties outside of the team. *Organization Science*, 25(5), 1434–1452.
- Podolny, J. M., & Baron, J. N. (1997). Resources and relationships: Social networks and mobility in the workplace. *American Sociological Review*, 62(5), 673–693.
- Proudfoot, D., & Fath, S. (2021). Signaling creative genius: How perceived social connectedness influences judgments of creative potential. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin*, 47(4), 580–592.

- Proudfoot, D., Kay, A. C., & Koval, C. Z. (2015). A gender bias in the attribution of creativity: Archival and experimental evidence for the perceived association between masculinity and creative thinking. *Psychological Science*, 26(11), 1751– 1761.
- Qin, X., Yam, K. C., Chen, C., Li, W., & Dong, X. (2021). Talking about COVID-19 is positively associated with team cultural tightness: Implications for team deviance and creativity. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 106(4), 530–541.
- Rafaeli, A., & Pratt, M. G. (1993). Tailored meanings: On the meaning and impact of organizational dress. *Academy of Management Review*, 18(1), 32–55.
- Ramos, S. J., & Puccio, G. J. (2014). Cross-cultural studies of implicit theories of creativity: A comparative analysis between the United States and the main ethnic groups in Singapore. *Creativity Research Journal*, 26(2), 223–228.
- Randel, A. E., & Jaussi, K. S. (2017). Leading for uniqueness: The role of uniqueness in facilitating creativity in employees' self-concepts. In M. Karwowski & J. C. Kaufman (Eds.), *The creative self: Effect of beliefs, self-efficacy, mindset, and identity* (pp. 289–299). Elsevier Academic Press.
- Reh, S., Van Quaquebeke, N., & Giessner, S. R. (2017). The aura of charisma: A review on the embodiment perspective as signaling. *The Leadership Quarterly*, 28(4), 486–507.
- Reis, H. T., Maniaci, M. R., Caprariello, P. A., Eastwick, P. W., & Finkel, E. J. (2011). Familiarity does indeed promote attraction in live interaction *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 101(3), 557–570.
- Richardson, P. S., Dick, A. S., & Jain, A. K. (1994). Extrinsic and intrinsic cue effects on perceptions of store brand quality. *Journal of Marketing*, 58(4), 28–36.
- Ridgeway, C. (1991). The social construction of status value: Gender and other nominal characteristics. *Social Forces*, *70*(2), 367–386.
- Ridgeway, C. L. (1981). Nonconformity, competence, and influence in groups: A test of two theories. *American Sociological Review*, *46*(3), 333–347.
- Ridgeway, C. L., & Berger, J. (1986). Expectations, legitimation, and dominance behavior in task groups. *American Sociological Review*, *51*(5), 603–617.
- Roth, P. L., Arnold, J. D., Walker, H. J., Zhang, L., & Van Iddekinge, C. H. (2022). Organizational political affiliation and job seekers: If I don't identify with your party, am I still attracted? *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 107(5), 724–745.
- Roth, P. L., Thatcher, J. B., Bobko, P., Matthews, K. D., Ellingson, J. E., & Goldberg, C.B. (2020). Political affiliation and employment screening decisions: The role of

similarity and identification processes. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, *105*(5), 472–486.

- Rouse, E. D. (2020). Where you end and I begin: Understanding intimate co-creation. *Academy of Management Review*, 45(1), 181–204.
- Runco, M. A., & Bahleda, M. D. (1986). Implicit theories of artistic, scientific, and everyday creativity. *The Journal of Creative Behavior*, 20(2), 93–98.
- Ruvio, A. (2008). Unique like everybody else? The dual role of consumers' need for uniqueness. *Psychology and Marketing*, 25(5), 444–464.
- Shalley, C. E., & Gilson, L. L. (2004). What leaders need to know: A review of social and contextual factors that can foster or hinder creativity. *The Leadership Quarterly*, 15(1), 33–53.
- Shalley, Zhou, & Oldham. (2004). The effects of personal and contextual characteristics on creativity: Where should we go from here?. *Journal of management*, *30*(6), 933-958.
- Shapiro, D. L., Boss, A. D., Salas, S., Tangirala, S., & Von Glinow, M. A. (2011). When are transgressing leaders punitively judged? An empirical test. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 96(2), 412–422.
- Sheldon, O. J., Thomas-Hunt, M. C., & Proell, C. A. (2006). When timeliness matters: the effect of status on reactions to perceived time delay within distributed collaboration. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 91(6), 1385–1395.
- Shepherd, H. (2011). The cultural context of cognition: What the implicit association test tells us about how culture Works. *Sociological Forum*, *26*(1), 121–143.
- Shin, S. J., & Zhou, J. (2007). When is educational specialization heterogeneity related to creativity in research and development teams? Transformational leadership as a moderator. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 92(6), 1709–1721.
- Silberzahn, R., & Uhlmann, E. L. (2013). It pays to be herr kaiser: Germans with noblesounding surnames more often work as managers than as employees. *Psychological Science*, 24(12), 2437–2444.
- Siltanen, R. (2011, December 14). The real story behind apple's 'think different' campaign. *Forbes*. https://www.forbes.com/sites/onmarketing/2011/12/14/the-real-story-behind-apples-think-different-campaign/?sh=3bd70cca62ab
- Simonsohn, U. (2011). Spurious? Name similarity effects (implicit egotism) in marriage, job, and moving decisions. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 101(1), 1–24.

- Singh, J., & Fleming, L. (2010). Lone inventors as sources of breakthroughs: myth or reality? *Management Science*, 56(1), 41–56.
- Skilton, P. F., & Dooley, K. J. (2010). The effects of repeat collaboration on creative abrasion. Academy of Management Review, 35(1), 118–134.
- Snyder, C. R., & Fromkin, H. L. (1980). Theory of Uniqueness. In C. R. Snyder & H. L. Fromkin (Eds.), Uniqueness: The Human Pursuit of Difference (pp. 31–55). Springer US.
- Spence, A. M. (1973). Time and Communication in Economic and Social Interaction. *Quarterly Journal of Economics*, 87(4), 651–660.
- Spence, M. (2002). Signaling in retrospect and the informational structure of markets. *American Economic Review*, 92(3), 434–459.
- Stamkou, E., van Kleef, G. A., Homan, A. C., Gelfand, M. J., van de Vijver, F. J. R., van Egmond, M. C., Boer, D., Phiri, N., Ayub, N., Kinias, Z., Cantarero, K., Efrat Treister, D., Figueiredo, A., Hashimoto, H., Hofmann, E. B., Lima, R. P., & Lee, I.-C. (2019). Cultural collectivism and tightness moderate responses to norm violators: Effects on power perception, moral emotions, and leader support. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin*, 45(6), 947–964.
- Sternberg, R. J. (1985). Implicit theories of intelligence, creativity, and wisdom. *Journal* of Personality and Social Psychology, 49(3), 607–627.
- Stiller, J., & Dunbar, R. I. M. (2007). Perspective-taking and memory capacity predict social network size. *Social Networks*, 29(1), 93–104.
- Strack, F., & Deutsch, R. (2004). Reflective and impulsive determinants of social behavior. *Personality and Social Psychology Review*, 8(3), 220–247.
- Swider, B. W., Harris, T. B., & Gong, Q. (2022). First impression effects in organizational psychology. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 107(3), 346–369.
- Tian, K. T., Bearden, W. O., & Hunter, G. L. (2001). Consumers' need for uniqueness: scale development and validation. *Journal of Consumer Research*, 28(1), 50–66.
- Tian, K. T., & McKenzie, K. (2001). The long-term predictive validity of the consumers' need for uniqueness scale. *Journal of Consumer Psychology*, *10*(3), 171–193.
- Tierney, P., & Farmer, S. M. (2002). Creative self-efficacy: Its potential antecedents and relationship to creative performance. *Academy of Management Journal*, 45(6), 1137–1148.
- Tsai, M.-H., Melia, N. V., & Hinsz, V. B. (2020). The effects of perceived decisionmaking styles on evaluations of openness and competence that elicit collaboration. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin*, 46(1), 124–139.

- Tsai, W.-C., Chi, N.-W., Grandey, A. A., & Fung, S.-C. (2012). Positive group affective tone and team creativity: Negative group affective tone and team trust as boundary conditions. *Journal of Organizational Behavior*, 33(5), 638–656.
- Tskhay, K. O., Zhu, R., & Rule, N. O. (2017). Perceptions of charisma from thin slices of behavior predict leadership prototypicality judgments. *The Leadership Quarterly*, 28(4), 555–562.
- Twenge, J. M., Abebe, E. M., & Campbell, W. K. (2010). Fitting in or standing out: Trends in American parents' choices for children's names, 1880–2007. Social Psychological and Personality Science, 1(1), 19–25.
- Twenge, J. M., & Manis, M. (1998). First-name desirability and adjustment: Selfsatisfaction, others' ratings, and family background. *Journal of Applied Social Psychology*, 28(1), 41–51.
- Umphress, E. E., Labianca, G. (J.), Brass, D. J., Kass, E. (E.), & Scholten, L. (2003). The Role of Instrumental and Expressive Social Ties in Employees' Perceptions of Organizational Justice. *Organization Science*, 14(6), 738–753.
- Uzzi, B., & Spiro, J. (2005). Collaboration and creativity: The small world problem. *American Journal of Sociology*, *111*(2), 447–504.
- Van der Vegt, G. S., & Janssen, O. (2003). Joint impact of interdependence and group diversity on innovation. *Journal of Management*, 29(5), 729–751.
- Van Kleef, G. A., Homan, A. C., Finkenauer, C., Gündemir, S., & Stamkou, E. (2011). Breaking the rules to rise to power. *Social Psychological and Personality Science*, 2(5), 500–507.
- van Knippenberg, D., De Dreu, C. K. W., & Homan, A. C. (2004). Work group diversity and group performance: an integrative model and research agenda. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 89(6), 1008–1022.
- Varnum, M. E. W., Grossmann, I., Kitayama, S., & Nisbett, R. E. (2010). The origin of cultural differences in cognition: Evidence for the social orientation hypothesis. *Current Directions in Psychological Science*, 19(1), 9–13.
- Vincent, L. C., & Kouchaki, M. (2016). Creative, rare, entitled, and dishonest: How commonality of creativity in one's group decreases an individual's entitlement and dishonesty. *Academy of Management Journal*, *59*(4), 1451–1473.
- Wang, J., Cheng, G. H.-L., Chen, T., & Leung, K. (2019). Team creativity/innovation in culturally diverse teams: A meta - analysis. *Journal of Organizational Behavior*, 40(6), 693 – 708.

- Watzlawik, M., Guimarães, D. S., Han, M., & Jung, A. J. (2016). First names as signs of personal identity: An intercultural comparison. *Psychology and Society*, 8(1), 1– 21.
- Wayne, S. J., & Ferris, G. R. (1990). Influence tactics, affect, and exchange quality in supervisor-subordinate interactions: A laboratory experiment and field study. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 75(5), 487–499.
- White, K., & Argo, J. J. (2011). When imitation doesn't flatter: The role of consumer distinctiveness in responses to mimicry. *Journal of Consumer Research*, 38(4), 667–680.
- Whiting, S. W., Maynes, T. D., Podsakoff, N. P., & Podsakoff, P. M. (2012). Effects of message, source, and context on evaluations of employee voice behavior. *Journal* of Applied Psychology, 97(1), 159–182.
- Wiedemann, D., Burt, D. M., Hill, R. A., & Barton, R. A. (2015). Red clothing increases perceived dominance, aggression and anger. *Biology Letters*, *11*(5), 20150166.
- Williams, M. (2007). Building Genuine Trust through Interpersonal Emotion Management: A Threat Regulation Model of Trust and Collaboration across Boundaries. Academy of Management Review, 32(2), 595–621.
- Wuchty, S., Jones, B. F., & Uzzi, B. (2007). The increasing dominance of teams in production of knowledge. *Science*, *316*(5827), 1036–1039.
- Zajonc, R. B. (1980). Feeling and thinking: Preferences need no inferences. *The American Psychologist*, *35*(2), 151–175.
- Zeng, A., Fan, Y., Di, Z., Wang, Y., & Havlin, S. (2021). Fresh teams are associated with original and multidisciplinary research. *Nature Human Behaviour*, 5(10), 1314-1322.
- Zhao, X., & Biernat, M. (2017). "Welcome to the U.S." but "change your name"? Adopting Anglo names and discrimination. *Journal of Experimental Social Psychology*, 70, 59–68.
- Zhou, J., Shin, S. J., Brass, D. J., Choi, J., & Zhang, Z.-X. (2009). Social networks, personal values, and creativity: evidence for curvilinear and interaction effects. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 94(6), 1544–1552.
- Zhou, J., Wang, X. M., Bavato, D., Tasselli, S., & Wu, J. (2019). Understanding the receiving side of creativity: A multidisciplinary review and implications for management research. *Journal of Management*, 45(6), 2570–2595.
- Zhou, J., Wang, X. M., Song, L. J., & Wu, J. (2017). Is it new? Personal and contextual influences on perceptions of novelty and creativity. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 102(2), 180–202.

- Zitek, E. M., & Vincent, L. C. (2015). Deserve and diverge: Feeling entitled makes people more creative. *Journal of Experimental Social Psychology*, *56*, 242–248.
- Zwebner, Y., Sellier, A.-L., Rosenfeld, N., Goldenberg, J., & Mayo, R. (2017). We look like our names: The manifestation of name stereotypes in facial appearance. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 112(4), 527–554.

Zweigenhaft, R. L. (1983). Unusual first names: A positive outlook. *Names*, *31*(4), 258–270.